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AUTOMOTIVE TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Your directors present their report on the consolidated entity consisting of Automotive Technology Group Limited and the
entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2009.

Directors

The names and details of the Company’s Directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are as
follows. Directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated.

Names, qualifications, experience and responsibilities

Mr Richard John Siemens (Non-Executive Chairman)

Mr Siemens was. born and raised in Canada, trained as a Chartered Accountant and moved to Hong Kong in 1979. In 1984,
he formed Hutchison Telephone Company Limited in partnership with Hutchison Whampoa and Motorola. While Group
Managing Director of Hutchison Telecommunications Limited, Mr. Siemens was instrumental in the establishment of other
leading companies including AsiaSat (the first satellite company in Asia), STAR TV, Metro Radio (the radio station
awarded with the first private radio licence granted by the Hong Kong Government in 25 years) and Hutchison’s move into
the European wireless business under the brand “Orange”. His financial acumen and entrepreneurial leadership is also key
to establishing mobile telecommunication businesses across the world led by Distacom Group, a privately-held group of
companies in mobile telecommunication business including SUNDAY in Hong Kong, Blu in Italy, Spice in India and
Madacom in Madagascar. Mr Siemens has been a director and major investor in ATG since August 2005. During the past
three years, Mr Siemens has also served as the Chairman of e-Kong Group Limited, a company listed on the main board of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, and the Chairman and a founding member of the Distacom Group.

Mr Steven James Apedaile (Managing Director)

Mr Apedaile is a founding Executive Director and major investor since 2003. He is a former Chairman of the Group having
extensive overseas experience as a resident of Hong Kong for nearly 25 years, the first 7 with KPMG Hong Kong and then
18 years with Horwath Hong Kong. Mr Apedaile was an Audit Director of Horwath and is experienced in all facets of
international business and corporate finance. Mr Apedaile has been involved in merger and acquisitions and the raising of
capital, both equity and debt for clients. He has also provided expertise in audits in connection with public stock offerings,
both in Hong Kong and on Nasdag. Mr Apedaile, a Chartered Accountant and previously a registered auditor, is responsible
for the Group’s strategic planning and direction and all corporate matters including sales and marketing. During the past
three years, Mr Apedaile did not serve as a director of other listed companies.

Mr Anthony Robert Hamilton (Executive Director — Operations)

Mr Hamilton prior to being a founding Executive Director and major investor since 2003 was based for the previous 10
years in London until relocating back to Australia. He has significant automotive experience in Europe having worked as a
consultant for a number of prestigious automotive manufacturers. During his time based in the UK, Mr Hamilton was
engaged as a consultant on various specialist automotive acquisitions and assisted in the development of specialist low
volume manufacturing procedures. In his last appointment he led the full ADR certification and production program for
Bullet Supercars in Queensland. He has also held senior management positions in a number of public companies based in
Europe and the USA. He is also an accomplished Motorsport competitor having raced both in Australia and Europe. Mr
Hamilton is an Accountant by profession and a Fellow of the Institute of Directors in London and is responsible for the day
to day running of the Company and oversees all facets of the operations until 31 August 2009 when he became a non-
executive director. Mr Hamilton resigned as non-executive director on 14 September 2009. During the past three years, Mr
Hamilton did not serve as a director of other listed companies.

Directors’ Interests
As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in the shares and options of Automotive Technology Group
Limited were:

Class A Class B Number of

Converting Converting Number of Options over

Director performance performance Ordinary Ordinary
shares shares Shares Shares

Mr R Siemens 3,335,458 3,335,458 19,830,170 1,500,000
Mr S Apedaile 3,210,458 3,210,458 14,996,930 1,500,000
6,545,916 6,545,916 34,827,100 3,000,000




AUTOMOTIVE TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D)

Company Secretary

Mr Jay Richard Stephenson (Company Secretary)

Mr Jay Stephenson holds a Master of Business Administration (UK), is a Certified Management Accountant (Canada), a
Fellow of the Australian Institute of Chartered Secretaries and is a Member of the Australian Institute of Company
Directors. Mr Stephenson has been involved in manufacturing and business development for 20 years including the past 14
years as Director, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary in both Australia and Canada for various listed and
unlisted entities in resources, manufacturing, wine, hotels, and property. He has been involved in business acquisitions,
mergers, initial public offerings, capital raisings, business restructuring as well as managing all areas of finance for
companies. Mr Stephenson is currently non-executive director and company secretary of Drake Resources Limited and Aura
Energy Limited and company secretary of Frontier Resources Limited, Revere Mining Limited, Stonehenge Metals Limited,
Globe Securities Limited, Noah Resources Limited, and Alpha Uranium Limited.

Chief Financial Officer

Ms Eileen Chan (Chief Financial Officer)

Ms Chan holds a Masters Degree in Commerce and has over 20 years accounting experience in both the professional and
commercial accounting sectors and is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms Chan has held several senior roles at Horwath Hong Kong, notably that of
Director, Audit & Assurance for the last six years. Ms Chan has extensive experience in IPOs, mergers and acquisitions,
transaction support services, business financing, corporate compliance and due diligence work. Ms Chan joined the Group
in September 2008 and is responsible for and reports to the Managing Director on all aspects of the Group’s financial and
treasury functions, administration, IT, tax and compliance issues.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of Automotive Technology Group Limited and the entities it controlled for the financial year ended 30
June 2009 remained the same as last year, being the manufacture and distribution of the patented range of Sprintex®
superchargers and Vee Two aftermarket and performance motorcycle accessories.

Dividends

No dividends have been declared or paid to shareholders at the date of this report.

Review of Operations

During the first six months of the financial year ended 30 June 2009, as stated in the 2009 Half Year Report, ATG expanded
its distribution network into China and United Arab Emirates (UAE) regions. In December 2008, ATG appointed
Huachuang Zhenxin Automotive Technology Development Co Ltd as the exclusive distributor of ATG’s Sprintex®
Superchargers products in Greater China Region. In the same month, ATG also signed a prototype evaluation agreement
with Al Futtaim Motors with a view to securing exclusive distribution agreements for Sprintex® Supercharger Systems in

the UAE.

ATG entered into initial feasibility studies with a party in China in respect of setting up volume production facilities and
also entered into its first significant agreement with a Chinese Original Equipment Manufacturer (OEM).

ATG has built and commissioned a Society of Australian Engineers (SAE) compliant testing facility for automotive and
industrial compressor applications.

ATG has received certification to ISO 9001/2008 and also achieved TUV certification (“Technischer Uberwachungsverein”
German safety and standards institution).

The Company continues to receive high levels of enquiry for its patented green Sprintex® Supercharging technology.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D)

Review of Operations (cont’d)

In the second half of the financial year ended 30 June 2009, ATG continued to expend its international distribution network.
In February 2009, ATG signed a distribution agreement with a German Automotive Group, IAP Project Management
GmbH for the distribution of ATG’s Sprintex® supercharger products in Europe.

ATG has completed the development of the Sprintex® Series 5 superchargers and has filed an application for the patent on
the compressor system.

Financial Review

The financial results for the 2009 financial year reflect tremendous research and development activities in the
commercialisation and product testing of the new range of patented Sprintex® Superchargers as well as the negative impacts
from the global financial crisis on automotive industry as a whole.

Operating results

The loss for the financial year was $5,473,738 when compared to a loss of $5,457,159 in the 2008 financial year. Sales for
the year 2009 were $463,717 (2008, $580,863), representing a decrease of 20%. This was largely a result of continuous
significant market testing and development of new product range during the financial year which continued to impact on
sales revenues. It is evidenced by the dramatic increase in research and development cost by 100% in 2009. This trend is
expected to be reversed as new products are released or scheduled for release to the markets in first half of the 2010
financial year.

Gross profit for the year ended 30 June 2009 was $42,075, compared to $279,221 in 2008. The reduction in gross profit
was contributed by a vigorous discount sales program on Vee Two aftermarket and performance motorcycle accessories
during the second half of the financial year as a result of strategic decision to focus on the development and manufacture of
Sprintex® products in the coming year.

Results for 2009 year were also affected by:

e  Asaresult of the strategic decision to have future focus on the development and manufacturing of Sprintex® products,
provision for losses on inventory was increased substantially in the amount of $653,442 (2008: $135,335)

Foreign exchange loss of $1,950 during the year when compared to foreign exchange gain of $132,352 in 2008
Research and development expenses increased by $1,259,278 during the year

Recognition of share based payment of $57,500

Increased marketing costs incurred by marketing consultants in Europe, quality control costs relating to 1ISO 9001/2008
compliance and audit costs and product quality assurance costs incurred in Europe

e Increased costs in trade mark and patent management

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The consolidated cash flow statement illustrates that there was a decrease in cash and cash equivalents in the year ended 30
June 2009 of $3,359,245 (2008: an increase of $2,417,929). The net cash outflow in comparison with the net cash inflow the
prior year is caused by a number of factors. Financing activities generated a net cash inflow of $1,726,640 (2008:
$8,591,797), mainly from funding obtained from share placement in February 2009 (refer to note 19 to the financial
statements), convertible note and short term loans from shareholders. The net increase in cash flows from financing
activities has been offset by net outflows from operating activities of $4,675,762 (2008: $5,750,036). The decrease in net
operating cash outflows during the year when compared to last year was mainly a result of tighter cost controls which
incurred in 2008. The amount of net cash used for investing activities to $410,123 (2008: $423,832) was mainly attributable
to purchases of property, plant and equipment in completing the enhancement of the ATG facilities.
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Financial Review (cont’d)

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY

Asset and capital structure 2009 2008 2008 2008
$ $ $ $

Total borrowings 2,392,278 1,393,750 2,392,278 1,393,750
Less: cash and cash equivalents (193,324)  (3,211,415) (192,605)  (3,210,924)
Net debt 2,198,954 (1,817,665) 2,199,673  (1,817,174)
Total equity 2,239,390 6,637,149 2,239,390 6,718,586
Total capital 4,438,344 4,819,484 4,439,063 4,901,412
Gearing ratio — net debt over total capital 50% N/A 50% N/A

Gearing ratio, defined as net debts over total capital, as at 30 June 2009 was 50%. The Group's policy for the year ended 30
June 2009 allowed up to 60% of financing to be provided by net debt at any particular time. The Group is currently
operating well within its stated policy. Management's policies for determining whether fixed or floating rates of interest are
entered into are examined on a yearly basis. Subsequent to the balance sheet date, finance lease liability in total of $152,503
was settled out of the proceeds from a private placement in late August 2009 (see Events Subsequent to Balance Sheet Date
on page 6).

Capital expenditure

The cash used to purchase property, plant and equipment for 30 June 2009 in the amount of $343,524 was comparable to the
amount of $345,688 used in the year ended 30 June 2008. As at 30 June 2009, the Group had no capital commitments in
respect of future capital expenditure (2008: $193,500).

Profile of borrowings
The profile of the Group’s debt finance is as follows:

2009 2008
$ $

Current
Bank overdraft 1,007,518 723,342
Insurance premium funding 65,766 89,034
Finance lease liabilities 327,814 208,840
Convertible note 142,010 -
Loans from related parties 616,971 -

2,160,079 1,021,216
Non current
Finance lease liabilities 232,199 372,534

2,392,278 1,393,750

The Group's debts have increased substantially over the last year. The Group anticipates that its debts will decrease over the
coming year as a result of the rights issue and additional private placement subsequent to year end (see page 6 for details).
At the same time, the additional funding will enable the Group to improve sales trend through newly launched products and
new business strategies. Of the Group's debts, 90% is repayable within one year of 30 June 2009, compared to 73% in the
previous year.

Risk management

The Group takes a proactive approach to risk management. The Board is responsible for ensuring that risks, and also
opportunities, are identified on a timely basis and that the Group's objectives and activities are aligned with the risks and
opportunities identified by the Board.
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Financial Review (cont’d)

As the Company had only two executive directors during the year, the Board had not established a separate risk
management committee. Instead sub-committees are convened as appropriate with the relevant key management personnel
in response to issues and risks identified by the Board as a whole, and the sub-committee further examines the issue and
reports back to the Board.

The Board has a number of mechanisms in place to ensure that management's objectives and activities are aligned with the
risks identified by the Board. These include the following:

e  Board approval of a strategic plan, which encompasses the Group's vision, mission and strategy statements, designed to
meet stakeholders' needs and manage business risk.

e Implementation of Board approved operating plans and budgets and Board monitoring of progress against these
budgets, including the establishment and monitoring of key performance indicators of both a financial and non-
financial nature.

e  The establishment of committees to report on specific business risks, including for example such matters as
environmental issues and occupational health and safety.

e  The Company has mechanisms in place to get access to external professional advice in assisting the discharge of the
Board's responsibilities to manage the organisation's financial risks including such matters as the Group's liquidity,
currency, interest rate and credit policies and exposures and monitors management's actions to ensure they are in line
with Group policy.

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs

Total equity decreased from $6,637,149 at 30 June 2008 to $2,239,390 at 30 June 2009. The movement was largely the
result of the operating loss of $5,473,738 which was partially compensated by an increase in contributed equity from the
placement of 8,500,000 shares at $0.12 per share in total of $1,020,000 in February 2009. Refer to note 19 for further
information on movements in equity.

Events Subsequent to Balance Sheet Date

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 13 August 2009, the Company has received and accepted the
resignation of Mr Anthony Hamilton as Executive Director- Operations effective 31 August 2009. The Board has agreed
terms with Mr Hamilton who will remain as a hon-executive director until no later than 31 October 2009. On 14 September
2009, Mr Hamilton also resigned as a non-executive director.

As disclosed in more detail in the Company’s announcement dated 26 August 2009, the Company entered into a Placement
and Underwriting Agreement with an existing shareholder to raise up to $6,255,988. The Underwriting relates to an
Entitlement Offer of a one for one non-renounceable rights issue of fully paid ordinary shares in the Company at an issue
price of $0.05 per share (“Entitlement Issue™) to raise up to approximately $5,830,988. In accordance with the Agreement,
the shareholder will subscribe 8,500,000 placement shares at $0.05 per share and underwrite up to 20 million fully paid
ordinary shares at $0.05 per share of the shortfall of the Entitlement Issue. Four shareholders including entities controlled
by Mr Richard Siemens and entities controlled by Mr Steve Apedaile, both directors of the Company have agreed with the
Company to subscribe for 34,383,837 new shares, in total of $1,714,142 under their entitlements.

The existing shareholder has subscribed for 8,500,000 placement shares at $0.05 per share totalling $425,000 on 28 August
2009. As of the date of this report, 27,833,153 Entitlements have been taken up from shareholders.

Loss per Share

Basic loss and diluted loss per share was $0.05 and $0.05 respectively.
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Employees

The Group employed 30 persons as at 30 June 2009 (2008: 30 persons).

Future Developments, Prospects and Business Strategies

Outlook

The severity of the present economic global crisis and its effect on the automaotive industry in turn affected the Company’s

future performance to an extent. However, management has plans to respond to the difficult operating environment by
making future improvements in efficiency and implement cost reductions. These measures include:

Implement restructuring programme to reduce operating cost base

e Cost reduction in all areas, particularly in areas that do not contribute to sales revenue
Renegotiation of supply contracts or source alternative supply resources

Outsourcing of manufacturing at lower costs; and

Expanding manufacturing facilities in countries with lower cost base

Also refer to the Review of Operations section included in this Directors’ report.
Environmental Issues

The consolidated entity’s operations are not subject to any significant environmental regulations under either
Commonwealth or State legislation. However, the Board believes that the consolidated entity has adequate systems in place
for the management of its environmental requirements and is not aware of any breach of these environmental requirements
as they apply to the consolidated entity.

Share/option Information

As at the date of this report, there were 7,500,000 unissued ordinary shares under options. Refer to the remuneration report
for further details of the options outstanding. Option holders do not have any right, by virtue of the option, to participate in
any share issue of the company or any related body corporate. During the year and up to the date of this report, no options
have been exercised. Details of the options are set out in note 24 to the financial statements.

As at the date of this report, there are 17,099,500 Class “A” Converting Performance Shares and 17,099,500 Class “B”
Converting Performance Shares outstanding. Details of the shares are set out in note 19 to the financial statements.

Indemnification and Insurance of Directors
The Company has entered into an Indemnity, Insurance and Access Deed with each Director and Officer.

Pursuant to the Deed, the Director/Officer is indemnified by the Company against any liability incurred in that capacity as
an officer of the Company to the maximum extent permitted by law subject to certain exclusions.

The Company must keep a complete set of company documents until the later of:

e  the date which is seven years after the Director/Officer ceases to be an officer of the Company; and

e the date after a final judgment or order has been made in relation to any hearing, conference, dispute, enquiry or
investigation in which the Director/Officer is involved as a party, witness or otherwise because the Director is or was
an officer of the Company (“Relevant Proceedings”).

The Director has the right to inspect and/or copy a company document in connection with Relevant Proceedings during the
period referred to above.
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Subject to the next sentence, the Company must maintain an insurance policy insuring the Director/Officer against liability
as a director and officer of the Company while the Director/Officer is an officer of the Company and until the later of:

e the date which is seven years after the Director/Officer ceases to be an officer of the Company; and
e the date any Relevant Proceedings have been finally resolved.

The Company may cease to maintain the insurance policy if the Company reasonably determines that the type of coverage is
no longer available.

$7,515 has been paid by the Company in respect of insurance contract premiums for directors and officers during the year.
Directors’ Meetings

The number of meetings of directors held during the year and up to the date of the report and the attendance by each director
were as follows:

Number of meetings ~ Number of meetings

Name held attended
Mr R Siemens 6 5
Mr S Apedaile 6 6
Mr A Hamilton 6 6

In addition to physical meetings held, written resolutions of the Board together with full copies of related documents were
circulated to all directors for consideration and approval. All such written resolutions were approved by all directors
unanimously.

Corporate Governance

Corporate governance matters are discussed in Corporate Governance Statement on pages 16 to 19 of this report.

Non-audit Services

No non-audit services have been provided by the Company’s auditor, Ernst and Young during the year.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration

The auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2009 has been received and can be found on the next
page.
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Auditor's Independence Declaration to the Directors of Automotive
Technology Group Limited

In relation to our audit of the financial report of Automotive Technology Group Limited for the financial year
ended 30 June 2009, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of the
auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of professional
conduct.

Emsd + Lot

Ernst & Young

o

P Mclver
Partner
30 September 2009

Liability limited by a scheme approved

under Professional Standards Legislation
PM:MB:ATG:011
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Remuneration Report (Audited)

This remuneration report outlines the director and executive remuneration arrangements of the Company and the Group in
accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations. For the purpose of this report, key
management personnel of the Group are defined as those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the major activities of the Company and the Group, directly or indirectly, including any director
(whether executive or otherwise) of the parent company, and includes the five executives in the Company and the Group
receiving the highest remuneration.

Details of key management personnel (including the five highest paid executives of the Company and the Group)

Names and positions held of the Company’s Directors and other key management personnel in office at any time during the
financial year and up to the date of this report were:

Parent Entity Directors

Mr R SIEMeNS......covvvreverrreceei Non-Executive Chairman

Mr S Apedaile........cccocoiiiiincien Executive Director — Corporate (up to 13 September 2009)
............................................... Managing Director (effective 14 September 2009)

Mr A Hamilton ........ccccccovevvvvvcnnenn, Executive Director — Operations (up to 31 August 2009)

............................................... Non-Executive Director (effective 1 September 2009, resigned on 14 September 2009)

Other Key Management Personnel

Ms E Chan.........cccoovvrvveerereerireinnn. Chief Financial Officer

Mr JWilliams........cccoceveiviniecnnn, General Manager - Operations

Mr JUPLON......cooeeeeecce e, Business Development Manager

Mr R Griffin ... Production and Supply Chain Manager
Mr S WilKinson?..........ccccooevvvvennene. Sales & Marketing Manager

1. Joined 9 September 2008
2. Resigned 28 August 2009

Remuneration Policy

For the purposes of this report, the term key management personnel encompasses the Directors, Chief Financial Officer,
Company Secretary and Departmental Managers of the Company and the Group.

Each Director of the Company is entitled to such remuneration from the Company as shareholders approve at the annual
general meeting, but the total amount provided to all non-executive directors must not exceed in aggregate the amount fixed
by the Company in a general meeting.

The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for determining and reviewing remuneration arrangements for the
directors and executives. The Board assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration of executives on
a periodic basis by reference to relevant employment market conditions with the overall objective of ensuring maximum
stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality, high performing director and executive team. Options are issued as
part of director and executive remuneration to encourage the alignment of personal and shareholder interests.. The expected
outcome of this remuneration structure is:

e  Retention and motivation of Directors

e  Performance rewards to allow Directors to share the rewards of the success of the Company
e  Link executive rewards to Shareholder value

e  Competitiveness and reasonableness

e Acceptability to shareholders

10
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Remuneration Report (Audited) (cont’d)

Remuneration Policy (cont’d)

The Board feels that the expiry date and exercise price of options currently on issue to the directors is sufficient to align the
goals of the directors and executives with those of shareholders to maximise shareholders wealth, and as such, has not set
any performance conditions for the directors and executives of the company in relation to options. The board will continue
to monitor this to ensure that it is appropriate for the Company in future years.

The Company has no policy on executives and directors entering into contracts to hedge their exposure to options or shares
granted as part of their remuneration package.

Company performance over the last 5 years is as follows:

Losses Loss per share

$ $

2009 5,473,738 0.05
2008 5,457,159 0.09
2007 3,334,957 N/A
2006 3,747,848 N/A
2005 2,074,307 N/A

Remuneration Structure

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive director and executive remuneration is
separate and distinct.

Non-Executive Director Remuneration

Obijective

The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level that provides the Company with the ability to attract and retain
directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost that is acceptable to shareholders.

Structure

The ASX Listing Rules specify that the aggregate remuneration of non-executive directors shall be determined from time to
time by a general meeting. The aggregate remuneration for all non-executive Directors has been set at an amount of
$300,000 per annum. The Directors have resolved that non-executive Director’s fee to the non-executive Chairman will be
$150,000 per annum after consideration of fees paid to non-executive directors of comparable companies. The non-
executive Chairman does not receive retirement benefits.

The amount of aggregate remuneration sought to be approved by shareholders and the fee structure is reviewed annually.
The Company advises that the remuneration of the non-executive chairman was reduced from $150,000 to $121,500 for the
year ended 30 June 2009.

Executive Directors and other Key Management Personnel Remuneration

As part of its Corporate Governance Policies and Procedures, the board has adopted a formal Remuneration Committee
Charter. Due to the current size of the Company and number of Directors, the board has elected not to create a separate
Remuneration Committee but has instead decided to undertake the function of the Committee as a full Board under the
guidance of the formal charter.

Structure
The rewards for Directors have no set or pre-determined performance conditions or key performance indicators as part of
their remuneration due to the current nature of the business operations.

11
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Remuneration Report (Audited) (cont’d)
Remuneration Structure (cont’d)

On 21 December 2009, Christmas cash bonus was paid to all staff at the discretion of directors. The maximum payable to
key management personnel was $1,200 of which $1,100 was paid. Details of these service contracts with the Executive
Directors are provided below.

No short term or long term incentive schemes are considered appropriate at this time due to the historical performance of the
Company. In the case of executive directors, the Company has entered into detailed service contract with the Executive
Directors. In the case of other key management personnel, standard contracts setting out base salary, superannuation and
non-monetary benefits were entered.

Executive directors

The Company has entered into a consultancy agreement with Powertraveller Pty Ltd (“Powertraveller”) for the provision of
services by Mr Steven Apedaile as Executive Director - Corporate of the Company. Pursuant to the terms of this agreement,
the Company will pay Powertraveller $35,000 per month for the term of the agreement (being 36 months from 1 June 2007)
and is subject to a review on the anniversary date of the agreement, the increase of which shall not be less than 5% of the
annual amount. The agreement can be terminated by either party by the provision of notice payment equal to the term
remaining of this agreement. No other termination payment is payable upon completion of the term of the agreement and
the agreement has no effect on compensation in the future. The Company advises that Powertraveller has reduced its fee
from October 2008 to $20,000 per month.

The Company has entered into a consultancy agreement with CMIH Enterprises Pty Ltd (“CMIH”) for the provision of
services by Mr Anthony Hamilton as Executive Director - Operations of the Company. Pursuant to the terms of this
agreement, the Company will pay CMIH $35,000 per month for the term of the agreement (being 36 months from 1 June
2007) and is subject to a review on the anniversary date of the agreement, the increase of which shall not be less than 5% of
the annual amount. The agreement can be terminated by either party by the provision of notice payment equal to the term
remaining of this agreement. No other termination payment is payable upon completion of the term of the agreement and
the agreement has no effect on compensation in the future. The Company advises that CMIH has reduced its fee from
October 2008 to $20,000 per month. As stated in the Company’s announcement dated 13 August 2009, Mr Anthony
Hamilton resigned as Executive Director — Operations with effect from 31 August 2009 and remained as a non-executive
director until no later than 31 October 2009 at a total fee of $60,000 and no other termination payment is payable. Mr
Hamilton resigned as a non-executive director on 14 September 2009.

All Directors are entitled to be paid reasonable travelling, accommodation and other expenses incurred in consequence of
their attendance at Board meetings and otherwise in the execution of their duties as Directors.

Other key management personnel

Other key management personnel are given the opportunity to receive their remuneration in a variety of forms including
cash and fringe benefits such as motor vehicles. It is intended that the manner of payment chosen will be optimal for the
recipient without creating undue cost for the Group.

The remuneration of directors and executives is detailed under the heading “Compensation of Key Management Personnel”
below.

The Company has established an employee share option plan (“ESOP”) for all employees of the Group. The ESOP is
designed to provide eligible participants with an ownership interest in the Company and to provide additional incentives for
eligible participants to increase profitability and returns to shareholders. Details of the ESOP are set out in note 24 to the
financial statements. No options have been granted under the ESOP during the years ended 30 June 2009 and 2008.
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AUTOMOTIVE TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED

AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D)

Remuneration Report (Audited) (cont’d)

Compensation of Key Management Personnel (Consolidated) for the years ended 30 June 2009 and 2008

Year ended 30 June
2009

Directors

Mr R Siemens

Mr S Apedaile

Mr A Hamilton
Sub-total directors
Other key management
personnel

Mr J Upton

Ms E Chan

Mr R Griffin

Mr S Wilkinson

Mr J Williams

Mr J Scoringe
Sub-total other key
management personnel
Totals

Post
employmen
Short-term benefits t Share based payment Total
Non-
Salary & Cash monetary Super-
fees bonus benefits annuation Shares Options
$ $ $ $ $ $
121,500 - 752 - - 122,252
262,682 - 752 - - 263,434
281,500 - 752 - - 282,252
665,682 - 2,256 - - 667,938
170,400 - 752 - - 171,152
95,000 200 2,316 7,425 - 104,941
78,606 300 11,586 7,074 - 97,566
83,460 300 8,221 7,511 - 99,492
70,292 300 11,370 6,326 - 88,288
34,350 - 3,031 1,742 - 39,123
532,108 1,100 37,276 30,078 - 600,562
1,197,790 1,100 39,532 30,078 - 1,268,500

%
Performance
related

% of
remuneration
consisting
options
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AUTOMOTIVE TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED

AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D)

Remuneration Report (Audited) (cont’d)

Year ended 30 June
2008

Directors
Mr R Siemens
Mr S Apedaile

Mr A Hamilton
Sub-total directors
Other key management
personnel

Mr J Upton

Mr R Griffin

Mr S Wilkinson

Mr J Williams

Mr J Scoringe

Mr J Lawrence
Sub-total key
management personnel
Totals

Post
Short-term benefits employment Share based payment Total
Non-
Salary & monetary Super-
fees Cash bonus benefits annuation Shares Options
$ $ $ $ $ $ $
150,000 - - - - 92,550 242,550
240,000 - - - - 92,550 332,550
240,000 - - - 92,550 332,550
630,000 - - - - 277,650 907,650
140,000 - - - - - 140,000
61,263 250 4,114 5,514 6,000 - 77,141
88,891 250 4,770 7,289 - - 101,200
55,026 250 - 4,952 5,000 - 65,228
127,769 250 10,894 12,869 - - 151,782
36,426 - 8,167 3,278 - - 47,871
509,375 1,000 27,945 33,902 11,000 - 583,222
1,139,375 1,000 27,945 33,902 11,000 277,650 1,490,872

%
Performance
related

% of
remuneration
consisting
option

38.16
27.83

27.83
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AUTOMOTIVE TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONT’D)

Remuneration Report (Audited) (cont’d)

Option granted and vested during 2008

Value of
option Shares
Number of granted Exercise issued on
options Date of Fair value during 30 price per exercise of
Directors granted grant per option June 2008 option Expiry date options
$ $ $
Mr R Siemens 1,500,000 28 Feb 2008 0.0617 92,550 0.30 31 Dec 2010 -
Mr S Apedaile 1,500,000 28 Feb 2008 0.0617 92,550 0.30 31 Dec 2010 -
Mr A Hamilton* 1,500,000 28 Feb 2008 0.0617 92,550 0.30 31 Dec 2010 -
4,500,000 277,650

1. Resigned as a director on 14 September 2009

All options were vested as at 30 June 2008. There were no alterations of the terms and conditions of options granted as
remuneration since the grant date.

Option granted and vested during 2009

No remuneration options were granted, vested or exercised during the period. No remuneration options lapsed during the
year.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

—

Steven Apedaile
Managing Director
Dated at Perth this 30" day of September 2009
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AUTOMOTIVE TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The Board of Directors of ATG is responsible for the corporate governance of the Group. The Board guides and monitors
the business affairs of the Company on the behalf of the shareholders by whom they are elected and to whom they are
accountable.

The Corporate Governance Statement of ATG is structured with reference to the Australian Stock Exchange Corporate
Governance Council’s (the Council’s) “Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations” (“ASX Principles”) as
revised in August 2007 the Principles of which are as follows:

Principle 1 Lay solid foundations for management and oversight
Principle 2 Structure the Board to add value

Principal 3 Promote ethical and responsible decision making
Principle 4 Safeguard integrity in financial reporting

Principle 5 Make timely and balances disclosures

Principle 6 Respect the rights of shareholders

Principle 7 Recognise and manage risk

Principle 8 Remunerate fairly and responsibly

Commensurate with the spirit of the ASX Principles, The Company has followed each of the Recommendations to the
extent the Board considered that their implementation was practicable and likely to genuinely improve the Company’s
internal processes and accountability to external stakeholders. The Corporate Governance Statement contains certain
specific information and discloses the extent to which the Company has followed the guidelines during the period. Where a
recommendation has not been followed, that fact is disclosed, together with reasons for the departure.

Explanation for Departures from Best Practice Recommendations

Principle 2

Nomination Committee

Recommendation 2.4 requires listed entities to establish a nomination committee. During the year ended 30 June 2009,
ATG did not have a separately established nomination. However, the duties and responsibilities typically delegated to such
committee are included in the responsibilities of the full Board.

Principle 4

Audit Committee

Recommendation 4.2 requires the audit committee to be structured so that it consists only of non-executive directors with a
majority of independent directors, chaired by an independent chairperson who is not chairperson of the Board and has at
least three members. During the year ended 30 June 2009, the Audit Committee comprised two executive directors, both of
whom are considered independent. The Board considered that this arrangement is appropriate given the current size of the
Board and of the business.

Principle 8

Remuneration Committee

Recommendation 8.1 requires listed entities to establish a remuneration committee. During the year ended 30 June 2009,
ATG did not have a separately established remuneration committee. However, the duties and responsibilities typically
delegated to such committee are included in the responsibilities of the full Board.

With the exception of the departures from the Corporate Governance Council recommendations in relation to the

establishment of a nomination committee and remuneration committee and the composition of the Audit Committee as
stated above, the corporate governance practices of ATG are compliant with the Council’s best practice recommendations.
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AUTOMOTIVE TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONT’D)

Board Function

The Board is accountable to the shareholders for the performance of the Company and will have overall responsibility for its
operations. Day to day management of the Company’s affairs, and the implementation of the corporate strategy and policy
initiatives, are formally managed by Mr Anthony Hamilton and Mr Steven Apedaile, both executive directors, while Mr
Richard Siemens, a non-executive director and Chairman of the Board, provides leadership and contributes to the effective
running of the Board.

The key functions of the Board include:

e  approving the strategic direction and related objectives of the Company and monitoring management performance in
the achievement of these objectives;

adopting budgets and monitoring the financial performance of the Company;

overseeing the establishment and maintenance of adequate internal controls and effective monitoring systems;
overseeing the implementation and management of effective safety and environmental performance systems;

ensuring all major business risks are identified and effectively managed; and

ensuring that the Company meets its legal and statutory obligations.

There are procedures in place, agreed by the Board, to enable directors in furtherance of their duties to seek appropriate
independent professional advice at ATG’s expense.

Structure of the Board

The skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of director held by each director in office at the date of the
annual report is included in the Directors' Report. Directors of ATG are considered to be independent when they are
independent of management and free from any business or other relationship that could materially interfere with — or could
reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with — the exercise of their unfettered and independent judgement.

The terms in office held by each director in office at the date of this report is as follows:

Name Position Term in Office
Mr R Siemens (Non-Executive Chairman) Appointed 29 August 2005
Mr S Apedaile (Executive Director — Corporate) Appointed16 September 2003
(Managing Director) Effective 14 September 2009
Mr A Hamilton (Executive Director — Operations) Appointed 16 September 2003
Resigned 31 August 2009
(Non-Executive Director) Effective 1 September 2009

Resigned on 14 September 2009
Trading Policy

The Company has a formal policy for dealing in the Company’s securities by Directors, employees and contractors. This
sets out their obligations regarding disclosure of dealing in the Company’s securities. The Constitution permits Directors to
acquire securities in the Company during the four week period after the following:

e any major announcements;
e the release of the Company’s quarterly , half yearly and annual financial results to the ASX; and
e  the annual general meeting.

However Company policy prohibits Directors and senior management from dealing the Company’s securities at any time
while in possession of price sensitive information.

Directors must advise the Board before buying or selling securities in the Company. All such transactions are reported to the
Board. In accordance with the provisions of the Corporations Act and the Listing Rules, the Company advises ASX of any
transaction conducted by Directors in the securities of the Company.

17



AUTOMOTIVE TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONT’D)

Audit Committee

The Board has established an Audit Committee, which operates under a charter approved by the Board. It is the Board's
responsibility to ensure that an effective internal control framework exists within the entity.

The committee’s primary responsibilities are to:

e oversee the existence and maintenance of internal controls and accounting systems;

e  oversee the management of risk within the Company;

e oversee the financial reporting process;

e  review the annual and half-year financial reports and recommend them for approval by the Board of Directors;

e nominate external auditors;

e  review the performance of the external auditors and existing audit arrangements; and

e ensure compliance with laws, regulations and other statutory or professional requirements, and the Company’s
governance policies.

The members of the Audit Committee during the year and up to the date of this report and the number of meetings and
attendees at those meetings were:

No of Number of
Name meetings held  meetings attended
Mr S Apedaile (Executive Director — Corporate up to 13 September 2009 1 1
(Managing Director from 14 September 2009)
Mr A Hamilton (Executive Director — Operations up to 31 August 2009) 1 1

(Non-executive Director until 14 September 2009)
Risk

The Board has identified the significant areas of potential business and legal risk of ATG. The identification, monitoring
and, where appropriate, the reduction of significant risk to ATG will be the responsibility of the Board.

To this end, comprehensive practices are in place that are directed towards achieving the following objectives:

o effectiveness and efficiency in the use of the Company's resources;
e  compliance with applicable laws and regulations;
e  preparation of reliable published financial information.

The Board reviews and monitors the parameters under which such risks will be managed. Management accounts were
prepared and reviewed at Board meetings. Budgets were prepared and compared against actual results.

CFO Certification

In accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act, the chief financial officer have provided a written statement to the
Board that:

e their view provided on the Company’s financial report is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal
compliance and control which implements the financial policies adopted by the Board

e the Company’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating effectively in all material
respects.
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AUTOMOTIVE TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONT’D)

Performance

The performance of the Board and key executives is reviewed regularly against both measurable and qualitative indicators.
During the reporting period, the Board conducted performance evaluations that involved an assessment of each Board
member's and key executive's performance against specific and measurable qualitative and quantitative performance criteria.
The performance criteria against which directors and executives are assessed are aligned with the financial and non-financial
objectives of ATG. Key management personnel whose performance is consistently unsatisfactory may be asked to retire.

Remuneration

It is the Company's objective to provide maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality Board and
executive team by remunerating directors and key executives fairly and appropriately with reference to relevant employment
market conditions. The Company does not link the nature and amount of the emoluments of such officers to the Company’s
financial or operational performance. The expected outcomes of the remuneration structure are:

e  retention and motivation of key executives;
e  attraction of high quality management to the Company; and
e  performance rewards to allow executives to share in the success of ATG

For a full discussion of the Company's remuneration philosophy and framework and the remuneration received by directors
and executives in the current period please refer to the Remuneration Report, which is contained within the Directors'
Report in pages 10 to 15.

There is no scheme to provide retirement benefits to non-executive directors.

The Board is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for the directors themselves and the
executive team.
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AUTOMOTIVE TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

INCOME STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009

Revenue
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit

Other revenue and gains/(losses)

Distribution & marketing expenses
Occupancy expenses

Corporate expenses

Research & development expenses
Administration expenses

Other expenses

Impairment loss

Finance costs

Loss before income tax expense

Income tax benefit

Net loss for the year

5
11

5

Loss per share attributable to the ordinary equity

holders of the Company
Basic loss per share

Diluted loss per share

CONSOLIDATED

PARENT ENTITY

ENTITY

2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $
463,717 580,863 463,717 580,863
(421,642) (301,642)  (421,642) (301,642)
42,075 279,221 42,075 279,221
52,644 396,156 53,180 396,130
(332,096) (533,758)  (332,096) (533,758)
(26,141) (134,219) (26,141) (134,219)
(1,314,543) (720,337)  (1,314,543) (720,337)
(2,497,188) (1,237,910) (2,497,188)  (1,237,910)
(1,207,559) (3,120,812)  (1,202,695)  (3,111,013)
(710,942) (536,385)  (710,942) (536,385)
- - (86,837) (74,586)
(180,080) (175,565)  (180,080) (175,565)
(6,173,830) (5,783,609) (6,255,267)  (5,848,422)
700,092 326,450 700,092 326,450
(5,473,738) (5,457,159)  (5,555,175)  (5,521,972)
(0.05) (0.09)
(0.05) (0.09)

The Income Statements should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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AUTOMOTIVE TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 30 JUNE 2009

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in controlled entities
Receivables
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill & intellectual property

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Interest bearing liabilities
Provisions
Other liabilities
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest bearing liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Contributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated losses
TOTAL EQUITY

The Balance Sheets should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements.

NOTES

10
11

22
12
13
14

15
16
17
18

16

19
20

CONSOLIDATED

PARENT ENTITY

ENTITY

2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

193,324 3,211,415 192,605 3,210,924
479,104 325,108 479,104 325,108
1,662,862 1,941,550 1,662,862 1,941,550
2,335,290 5,478,073 2334571  5477,582
- - 536,699 623,536
32,543 15,000 32,543 15,000
3,080,721 3,025,491 3,054,158 2,993,300
509,417 509,417 - -
3,622,681 3,549,908 3,623,400 3,631,836
5,957,971 9,027,981 5957,971 9,109,418
1,115,671 873,956 1,115,671 873,956
2,160,079 1,021,216 2,160,079 1,021,216
103,457 105,154 103,457 105,154
107,175 17,972 107,175 17,972
3,486,382 2,018,298 3,486,382 2,018,298
232,199 372,534 232,199 372,534
3,718,581 2,390,832 3718581 2,390,832
2,239,390 6,637,149 2,239,390 6,718,586
21,622,916 20,615,323 21,622,916 20,615,323
1,301,524 1,233,138 1,301,524 1,233,138
(20,685,050)  (15,211,312)  (20,685,050) (15,129,875)
2,239,390 6,637,149 2,239,390 6,718,586
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AUTOMOTIVE TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY

Balance at 1 July 2007

Net income recognised directly

in equity - Revaluation increase
of land and buildings, net of tax

(note 13)
Loss for the year
Total recognised income and
expenses for the year

Issue of shares

Group reorganisation

Share issue expenses
Conversion of convertible note
Share-based payments
Balance at 30 June 2008

Loss for the year

Total recognised income and
expenses for the year

Issue of shares

Share issue expenses

Issuance of convertible note
Share-based Payments

Balance at 30 June 2009

Contributed

equity Reserves
Convertible Asset Share
Ordinary note revaluation option Accumulated
shares equity reserve reserve losses Total
Note 19 Note 20 (a) Note 20 (b) Note 20 (c)
$ $ $ $ $ $
4,594,988 305,475 689,248 - (9,754,153) (4,164,442)
- - 142,840 - - 142,840
- - - - (5,457,159) (5,457,159)
- - 142,840 - (5,457,159) (5,314,319)
15,425,643 - - - - 15,425,643
4,399 4,399
(609,707) - - - - (609,707)
1,200,000 (305,475) - - - 894,525
- - - 401,050 - 401,050
20,615,323 - 832,088 401,050 (15,211,312) 6,637,149
- - - - (5,473,738) (5,473,738)
- - - (5,473,738) (5,473,738)
1,023,000 - - - - 1,023,000
(15,407) - - - - (15,407)
10,886 10,886
- - 57,500 57,500
21,622,916 10,886 832,088 458,550 (20,685,050) 2,239,390

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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AUTOMOTIVE TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED

AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONT’D)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009

PARENT ENTITY

Balance at 30 June 2007

Net income recognised directly in
equity - Revaluation increase of land
and buildings, net of deferred tax
(note 13)

Loss for the year

Total recognised income and

expenses for the year

Issue of shares

Group reorganisation

Share issue expenses
Conversion of convertible note
Share-based Payments (note 24)

Balance at 30 June 2008

Loss for the year

Total recognised income and
expenses for the year

Issue of shares

Share issue expenses

Issuance of convertible note
Share-based Payments (note 24)

Balance at 30 June 2009

Contributed

equity Reserves
Convertible Asset Share
Ordinary note revaluation option Accumulated
shares equity reserve reserve losses Total
Note 19 Note 20 (a) Note 20 (b) Note 20 (c)
$ $ $ $ $ $
4,594,988 305,475 689,248 - (9,607,903) (4,018,192)
- - 142,840 - - 142,840
- - - - (5,521,972) (5,521,972)
- - 142,840 - (5,521,972) (5,379,132)
15,425,643 - - - - 15,425,643
4,399 - - - - 4,399
(609,707) - - - - (609,707)
1,200,000 (305,475) - - - 894,525
- - - 401,050 - 401,050
20,615,323 - 832,088 401,050 (15,129,875) 6,718,586
- - - (5,555,175) (5,555,175)
- - - (5,555,175) (5,555,175)
1,023,000 - - - - 1,023,000
(15,407) - - - - (15,407)
10,886 - 10,886
- - 57,500 - 57,500
21,622,916 10,886 832,088 458,550 (20,685,050) 2,239,390

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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AUTOMOTIVE TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
ENTITY
NOTES 2009 2008 2009 2008
$ $ $ $

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers 487,402 437,309 487,402 427,283

Payments to suppliers and employees (5,421,989) (6,386,695) (5,421,989)  (6,314,392)

Interest and finance lease charges paid (180,080) (175,565) (180,080) (175,565)

Interest received 58,813 48,465 58,813 48,463

Research & development rebate received 380,092 326,450 380,092 326,450
Net cash flows used in operating activities 21 (4,675,762) (5,750,036) (4,675,762)  (5,687,761)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Advances to subsidiaries - - - (74,586)

Advances to non-related parties (17,543) (15,000) (17,543) (15,000)

Placement of secured deposit (60,000) (140,000) (60,000) (140,000)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 10,944 76,856 10,944 76,531

Payments for property, plant and equipment (343,524) (345,688) (343,524) (324,661)
Net cash flows used in investing activities (410,123) (423,832) (410,123) (477,716)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from borrowings — related parties 931,174 1,410,804 931,174 1,410,780

Proceeds from borrowings — insurance premium

funding 82,208 133,552 82,208 133,552

Proceeds from borrowings — others 88,518 - 88,518 -

Repayment of borrowings — related parties (225,000) - (225,000)

Repayment of borrowings - hire purchase contracts (202,377) (183,937) (202,377) (183,936)

Repayment of borrowings — insurance premium

funding (105,476) (207,315) (105,476) (207,315)

Proceeds from convertible note 150,000 - 150,000 -

Proceeds from share capital raising 1,023,000 8,048,400 1,023,000 8,048,400

Capital raising costs (15,407) (609,707) (15,407) (609,707)
Net cash flows generated from financing activities 1,726,640 8,591,797 1,726,640 8,591,774
Net (decrease)/increase in cash held (3,359,245) 2,417,929  (3,359,245) 2,426,297
Net foreign exchange differences (3,022) - (3,250) -
Cash at the beginning of the financial period 2,348,073 (69,856) 2,347,582 (78,715)
Cash at the end of the financial period 9 (1,014,194) 2,348,073  (1,014,913) 2,347,582

The Cash Flow Statements should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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AUTOMOTIVE TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009

(@)

(b)

Corporate information

Automotive Technology Group Limited (the “Company™) is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia
whose shares are publicly traded on the Australian Stock Exchange. The Company’s registered office is 73 Resource
Way, Malaga WA 6090.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 30 June 2009 comprise the
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group™). The nature of the operations and principal
activities of the Group are described in the Directors Report.

The general purpose consolidated financial statements of Automotive Technology Group Limited for the year ended
30 June 2009 were authorised for issue and approved by the Board of Directors on 30 September 2009.

Significant accounting policies
Statement of compliance

This financial report is a general purpose financial report which complies with Australian Accounting Standards
(AASBs) (including Australian interpretations) as issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and
the Corporations Act 2001. The financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) and interpretations as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Basis of preparation

The financial report has been prepared on the historical cost basis except for land and buildings which have been
measured at fair value.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated
financial statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities.

Going concern

The consolidated entity has net assets and net current liabilities of $2,239,390 (2008: $6,637,149) and $1,151,092
(2008: net current assets $3,459,775) respectively as at 30 June 2009 and incurred an operating loss of $5,473,738
(2008: $5,457,159) and net operating cash outflow of $4,675,762 (2008: $5,750,036) for the year ended 30 June
2009. The consolidated entity's ability to continue as a going concern and meet its debts and future commitments as
and when they fall due is dependent on a number of factors, including:

e the continued support of the company financiers to provide sufficient facilities to enable the business to operate
on a day to day basis;

e  the completion of the issuance of Placement Shares and Entitlement Issue as further disclosed in note 29 to the
financial statements;

o the ability to raise sufficient working capital to ensure the continued implementation of the Company’s long
term business plan; and

e  delivery of existing and new products through the Group’s distribution network to generate sales revenues and
positive cash flows.

The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis. In arriving at this position the directors have had
regard to the fact that the Company has, or in the directors’ opinion will have access to, sufficient cash to fund
administrative and other committed expenditure for a period of not less than 12 months from the date of this report
taking into account of the Placement Shares and Entitlement Issue as further disclosed in note 29.
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AUTOMOTIVE TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009

(b)

(©)

(d)

Basis of preparation (cont’d)

Should the Group not achieve the matters set out above, there is significant uncertainty whether it will be able to
continue as a going concern and therefore whether it will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due and realise
its assets and extinguish its liabilities in the normal course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial
statements.

The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability or classification of recorded
asset amounts, or to the amounts or classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Consolidated Entity
not be able to continue as a going concern.

Functional and presentation currency

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, which is the functional currency and the presentational
currency of the Company and its Australian subsidiaries.

The functional currency of the overseas subsidiary Automotive Technology Group (BVI) is United States dollars
(USD) which is translated to presentational currency

Adoption of new or revised accounting standards and interpretations

From 1 July 2008, the Group has adopted the following Standards and Interpretations relevant to the Group’s
operations, mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008. Adoption of these standards and
interpretations did not have any effect on the financial position or performance of the Group.

AASB 2008-10 Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards — Reclassification of Financial Assets
(amendments to AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and AASB 7 Financial
Instruments Disclosures)

Interpretation 4 (revised) Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease

At the date of authorisation of this financial report, the following standards and interpretations, applicable to the
Group were in issue but not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group:

Effective for financial period on or after 1 October 2008
AASB Int 16 — Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

Effective for financial period on or after 1 January 2009:
- AASB 8 Operating Segments.
AASB 101 Revised Presentation of Financial Statements.
AASB 123 Revised Borrowing Costs.
AASB 2007-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 8
AASB 2007-6 Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 123
AASB 2007-8 and AASB 2007-10 Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 101
AASB 2008-1 Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards Share-based Payments: Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations
AASB 2008-2 Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards - Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations
Arising on Liquidity.
AASB 2008-7 Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards — Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly
Controlled Entity or Associate.
AASB 1039 (revised) Concise Reporting
AASB 2009-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards — Improving Disclosures about Financial
Instruments
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Adoption of new or revised accounting standards and interpretations (cont’d)

Effective for financial period on or after 1 July 2009:
AASB Int 17 and AASB 2008-13 Distributions of Non-Cash Assets to Owners and consequential amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards AASB 5 and AASB 110
AASB Int 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers
AASB 3 Revised Business Combinations
AASB 127 Revised Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
AASB 2008-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 3 and AASB 127
AASB 2008-5 Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project
AASB 2008-6 Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project.
AASB 2009-4 Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project.
AASB 2009-Y Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project.

Effective for financial period on or after 1 January 2010:
AASB 2009-5 Further Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements
Project.
Amendments to International Financial Reporting Standards Amendments to IFRS 2

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these standards and interpretations is
expected to be in the period of initial application.

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting
rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent Company, using
consistent accounting policies. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may
exist.

Intra-group balances, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in
full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The purchase method of
accounting involves allocating the cost of the business combination to the fair value of the assets acquired and the
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition.

There is no minority interest in any subsidiary of the Group.
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the parent’s financial statements.
Business combinations

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations regardless of whether equity
instruments or other assets are acquired. Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given, shares issued or
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange plus costs directly attributable to the combination. Where
equity instruments are issued in a business combination, the fair value of the instruments is their published market
price as at the date of exchange. Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in
equity.
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Business combinations (cont’d)

Except for non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale (which are measured at fair value less costs
to sell), all identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the business combination over
the net fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill. If the cost of
acquisition is less than the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable net assets of the subsidiary, the
difference is recognised as a gain in the income statement, but only after a reassessment of the identification and
measurement of the net assets acquired.

Where settlement of any part of the consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to
their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being
the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions.

Segment reporting

The Group is operating in one business segment in Australia, being the manufacture and distribution of the patented
range of Sprintex® superchargers and Vee Two aftermarket and performance motorcycle accessories.

Foreign currency translation

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the exchange rates ruling at the
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance
sheet date. All exchange differences in the financial report are taken to the income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the overseas subsidiary are translated into the presentation currency of
Automotive Technology Group Limited at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and the results are
transferred at the average rate for the year.

Exchange variations resulting from the translation are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity.
Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable to the extent that it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following
specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised.

Sale of Goods

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of the goods have passed to the buyer and can be
measured reliably. Risks and rewards are considered passed to the buyer at the time of delivery of the goods to the
customer.

Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method is a method of calculating the annualised cost of a financial asset or liability and allocating
the interest income or expense over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset or liability.
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Income tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities based on the current period’s taxable income. The tax rates and tax
laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Prior to 30 June 2009, the Company accounted for Research and Development tax claim on a cash basis as there was
no evidence to conclude that the claim was probable. During the year, following a reassessment of the circumstances
on which the estimate was based, Research and Development tax claim is accounted for on accrual basis, resulting in
an increase of $320,000 in Research and Development tax benefit for the year.

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except:

o where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit; or

e When the taxable temporary differences are associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests
in joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except:

o when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or

e when the deductible temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests
in joint ventures, in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary difference can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income
tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities shall be offset only if:

(@) thereis a legally enforceable right to set-off current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and
(b) the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either:
(i) the same taxable entity; or
(i) different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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(1)

Income tax (cont’d)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted at the balance sheet date.

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in the income statement.

Tax consolidation legislation
The Company and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities implemented the tax consolidation legislation as of
1 July 2004.

The head entity, Automotive Technology Group Limited and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group
continue to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. The Group has applied the group allocation
approach in determining the appropriate amount of current taxes and deferred taxes to allocate to members of the tax
consolidated group.

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the Company also recognises the current tax liabilities (or
assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled
entities in the tax consolidated group.

Other taxes
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax (“GST”) except:

(@)  where the GST on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which
case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as
applicable; and

(b)  Receivables and payables are stated with amounts of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or
payables in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising
from investing and financial activities, which are recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are classified
as operating cash flows.

Commitments or contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation
authority.

Loss per share

Basic loss per share

Basic loss per share is determined by dividing net profit after income tax attributable to members of the Company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.

Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic loss per share to take into account the
after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the
weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential
ordinary shares.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term deposits in the Balance Sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an
original maturity date of twelve months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash
equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are included within interest-bearing liabilities in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables, which generally have 0-30 day terms are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using effective interest method (note 2 (i) above), less an allowance for impairment.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis at an operating unit level. Individual debts that are
known to be uncollectible are written off when identified. An impairment provision is recognised when there is
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect the receivable. Financial difficulties of the debtor, default
payments or debts more than 60 days overdue are considered objective evidence of impairment. The amount of the
impairment loss is the receivable carrying amount compared to the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the original effective interest rate.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value.

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and conditions are accounted for as follows:
Raw materials — purchase cost on a first in, first out basis.

Finished goods and work in progress — cost of direct materials and labour and a proportion of manufacturing
overheads based on normal operating capacity but excluding borrowing costs. Costs are assigned on a first in, first
out basis.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of
completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Investments and other financial assets

Investments and financial assets in the scope of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are
categorised as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity
investments, or available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the
investments were acquired. Designation is re-evaluated at each financial year end, but there are restrictions on
reclassifying to other categories.

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of assets not at fair
value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

Recognition and derecognition

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date ie the date that the Group
commits to purchase the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets under
contracts that require delivery of the assets within the period established generally by regulation or convention in the
market place. Financial assets are derecognised when the right to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or been transferred.
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Investments and other financial assets (cont’d)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method (note 2(i) above).
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired. These
are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after balance date, which are
classified as non-current.

Property, plant and equipment

Recognition

Plant and equipment and leasehold improvements are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation/amortisation and
any impairment in value. Such cost includes the cost of replacing parts that are eligible for capitalisation when the
cost of replacing the parts is incurred. Similarly, when each major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in
the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement only if it is eligible for capitalisation. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Land and buildings are measured at fair value, based on periodic but at least triennial valuations by external
independent valuer who apply the International Valuations Standards Committee International Valuation Standards,
less accumulated depreciation on buildings and less any impairment losses recognised after the date of the
revaluation.

Depreciation & amortisation
Depreciation is calculated on a diminishing value basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows:
Building Improvements: 0-30%
Plant and Equipment: 15%
Engineering Equipment and Software: 15-37.5%
Furniture and Office Equipment: 7.5-37.5%
Motor Vehicles: 18.75%
Leasehold Improvements: 30%

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and amortisation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
financial year end.

Revaluations of land and buildings

Any revaluation increment is credited to the asset revaluation reserve included in equity, except to the extent that it
reverses a revaluation decrement for the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the
increment is recognised in profit or loss. Any revaluation decrement is recognised in profit or loss, except to the
extent that it offsets a previous revaluation increment for the same asset, in which case the decrement is debited
directly to the asset revaluation reserve to the extent of the credit balance existing in the revaluation reserve for that
asset.

Any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amounts of the assets
and the net amounts are restated to the revalued amounts of the assets.

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included in
the income statement.

Upon disposal or derecognition, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset being sold is transferred to
retained earnings.

Derecognition
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal.
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Leases

Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic substance of the
agreement so as to reflect the risks and benefits incidental to ownership.

Operating leases

The minimum lease payments made under operating leases are charged against profit or loss in equal instalments over
the accounting periods covered by the lease term where the lessor effectively retains substantially all of the risks and
benefits of ownership of the leased item.

The cost of improvements to or on leasehold property is capitalised, disclosed as leasehold improvements and
amortised over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term.

Finance leases

Leases which effectively transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased item
to the Group are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset, or, if lower, at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and disclosed as property, plant and equipment under lease. A lease liability of
equal value is also recognised.

Capitalised lease assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the assets and the lease term.
Minimum lease payments are allocated between interest expense and reduction of the lease liability with the interest
expense calculated using the interest rate implicit in the lease and recognised directly in net profit.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other
assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable.

At each reporting date, management assess whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, where an
indicator of impairment exists, management makes a formal estimate of recoverable amount. Where the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its
recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less cost to sell and value in use. It is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset’s value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value less costs to sell and it does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case, the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash- generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

Goodwill and intangibles

Goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess of the costs of the business
combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses.

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying value may be impaired.
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Goodwill and intangibles (cont’d)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in business combination is from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is so allocated:

(@) represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for the internal management
purposes; and

(b) s not larger than a segment based on either the Group’s primary or the Group’s secondary reporting format
determined in accordance with AASB 114 Segment reporting.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill
related. When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss
is recognised.

When goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) and an operation within that unit
is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this manner is
measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not subsequently reversed.

Intangibles

Intangible assets acquired separately or in a business combination are initially measured at cost. The cost of an
intangible asset acquired in a business combination is its fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the year in which the expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
amortised over the useful life and tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may
be impaired (see note 2(s) for methodology). The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the expected useful life or
the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for
prospectively by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, which is a change in accounting
estimate. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in profit or loss in the expense
category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level consistent with the methodology outlined for goodwill above. Such intangibles are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed each reporting period to determine
whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from
indefinite to finite is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate and is thus accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Research and development costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred. An intangible asset arising from development expenditure on an internal
project is recognised only when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset
will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the development and the ability to
measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development. Following the initial
recognition of the development expenditure, the cost model is applied requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Any expenditure so capitalised is amortised over the
period of expected benefit from the related project.
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Goodwill and intangibles (cont’d)

The carrying value of an intangible asset arising from development expenditure is tested for impairment annually
when the asset is not yet available for use, or more frequently when an indication of impairment arises during the
reporting period.

The Group’s intangible asset represents acquired intellectual property — patents are amortised over the remaining life
on a straight line basis.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost. Due to their short term nature they are not discounted. They
represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid
and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and
services. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

Convertible notes

Convertible notes are compound financial instruments where interest is paid annually in arrears. The component parts
of compound instruments issued by the Group are classified separately as financial liabilities and equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for a similar non-convertible instrument. This
amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis using the effective interest method (note 2(i) above) until
extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s maturity date. The increase in the liability due to the passage of
time is recognised as a finance cost.

The equity component is determined by deducting the amount of the liability component from the fair value of the
compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax effects, and is not
subsequently remeasured.

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of the convertible note based on the
allocation of proceeds to the liability and equity components when the instruments are first recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred, except where they are directly attributable to the
acquisition or construction of qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under and insurance contract, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense
relating to any provision is presented in the income statement net of any reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the
risks specific to the liability.
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Provisions (cont’d)

Service warranties

Provision is made for the estimated liability on all products still under warranty at balance date. The amount of the
provision is the present value of the estimated cash flows expected to be required to settle the warranty obligations,
having regard to the service warranty experience over the last two years and the risks of the warranty obligations. The
provision is not discounted to its present value as the effect of discounting is not material.

Employee leave benefits

Wages, salaries, annual leave and non-monetary benefits

Provision is made for the employee benefits accumulated as a result of the employee rendering services up to the
reporting date. These benefits including on costs expected to be settled within one year, together with benefits arising
from wages and salaries, annual leave and non-monetary benefits which will be settled after one year, are measured at
their nominal amounts based on remuneration rates which are expected to be paid when the liability is settled.

Long service leave

Long service leave including on costs, payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of
estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is
given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected
future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to
maturity and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Retirement benefit obligations
The Group contributes to various superannuation plans in accordance with and at rates set down by law. Some
employees contribute to these plans at differing percentages of their salaries.

The Group’s contributions and costs are charged as an expense as incurred.
Share based payment transactions

The Group operates an Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP), which provides benefits to employees (including
Directors) of the Group in the form of share based payment transactions, whereby employees render services in
exchange for shares or rights over shares (“equity settled transactions”).

The cost of these equity settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted. An external valuer using Black Scholes model determines the fair value, which takes into
account the factors including the option exercise price, the current level and volatility of the underlying share price,
the risk-free interest rate, expected dividends on the underlying share, current market price of the underlying share,
the expected life of the option, and any barriers associated with vesting.

The fair value of equity settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become
fully entitled to the option (“vesting date’).

The cumulative expense recognised for equity settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting reflects:

(@  the grant date fair value of the award,

(b)  the extent to which the vesting period has expired, and

(c)  the number of options that, in the opinion of the Directors of the Group, will ultimately vest. This opinion is
formed based on the best available information at balance date. No adjustment is made for the likelihood of
market performance conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of
fair value at grant date.
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(2)

(aa)

(@)

Share based payment transactions (cont’d)

No expense is recognised for options that do not ultimately vest, except for options where vesting is conditional upon
a market condition.

Where the terms of an equity settled option are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had
not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any increase in the value of the transaction as a result of
the modification, as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity settled option is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the option is recognised immediately. However, if a new option is substituted for the
cancelled option, and designated as a replacement option on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new option
are treated as if they were a modification of the original option, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of
earnings per share.

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions with other parties are measured at the fair value of the goods or
services received, except where the fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders
the service.

Contributed equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions in
relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses that affect the reported amounts in the
financial statements. Estimations and judgements are continually evaluated by management and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on
the entity and that are believe to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Significant accounting judgements

The following are the critical judgements that the directors have made in the process of applying the entity’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect of the amounts recognised in financial statements:

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill

The Group assesses impairment of all assets including intangible assets with definite useful lives at each reporting
date by evaluating conditions specific to the Group and to the particular asset that may lead to impairment. These
include product and manufacturing performance, technology, economic and political environments and future product
expectations. If an impairment trigger exists the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. Given the current
uncertain economic environment, these assets have been tested for impairment in this financial period.
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(@)

(b)

Significant accounting judgements (cont’d)

Taxation

The Group's accounting policy for taxation requires management's judgement in assessing whether deferred tax assets
and certain deferred tax liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet. Deferred tax assets, including those arising
from unrecouped tax losses, capital losses and temporary differences, are recognised only where it is considered more
likely than not that they will be recovered, which is dependent on the generation of sufficient future taxable profits.

Assumptions about the generation of future taxable profits and repatriation of retained earnings depend on
management's estimates of future cash flows. These depend on estimates of future production and sales volumes,
operating costs, capital expenditure, dividends and other capital management transactions. Judgements are also
required about the application of income tax legislation. These judgements and assumptions are subject to risk and
uncertainty, hence there is a possibility that changes in circumstances will alter expectations, which may impact the
amount of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities in respect of tax losses and temporary differences not yet
recognised. In such circumstances, some or all of the carrying amounts of unrecognised deferred tax assets and
liabilities may require adjustment, resulting in a corresponding credit or charge to the income statement.

Significant estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are:

Share based payment transactions

The cost of share based payments to employees and consultants for the year ended 30 June 2008 was measured by
reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted, the fair value was
determined with assistance of an external valuer, using the Black Scholes formula, taking into accounts the terms and
conditions upon which the instruments were granted. The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity-
settled share-based payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
annual reporting period but may impact expenses and equity.

Impairment of goodwill

The Company determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating units, using a value in use discounted cash flow methodology, to which
the goodwill are allocated. No impairment loss was recognised in the current year. The assumptions used in this
estimation of recoverable amount and the carrying amount of goodwill are discussed in note 13.

Warranty provision

In determining the level of provision required for product warranties the Group has made judgements in respect of the
expected performance of the product, number of customers who will actually use the warranty and how often, and the
costs of fulfilling the performance of the service warranty. Historical experience and current knowledge of the
performance of products has been used in determining this provision. The related carrying amounts are disclosed in
note 16. Any increase or decrease in the provision would affect profit or loss in future years.

Research and Development tax benefit

The Group's accounting policy for research and development tax claim requires management's judgement in assessing
whether the tax claim is probable. Historical experience of the successfulness of prior years’ claims has been used in
determining the amount recognised in the income statement as research and development tax benefit.

Segment Information

The Group is operating in one segment, being the manufacture and distribution of the patented range of Sprintex®
superchargers and Vee Two aftermarket and performance motorcycle accessories.
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Revenue and expenses

Revenue
Sales of goods and services

Other revenue and gains/(losses)

Interest revenue

Convertible note interest forgiven
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain

Total other revenue and gains/(losses)

Employee payments including benefits
Salaries and wages
Superannuation expense
Annual leave
Long service leave expense
Other employment expense

Less: Research & development staff costs
Total employee payments

Research & development expenses
Research and development staff costs
Legal costs
Consultant costs
Materials/services costs
Travel expenses

Total research & development expenses

Depreciation and amortisation expenses
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Amortisation for leasehold improvements

Total depreciation and amortisation

Impairment loss

Intercompany receivable

Investment in controlled entities (note 22)
Total impairment losses

Other expenses
Share based payments

Provision for inventory
Total other expenses

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY

PARENT ENTITY

2009 2008 2009 2008
$ $ $ $
463,717 580,863 463,717 580,863

58,813 48,465 58,813 48,463

- 194,924 - 194,924
(4,219) 20,415 (3,455) 20,415
(1,950) 132,352 (2,178) 132,328
52,644 396,156 53,180 396,130

2,042,008 2,195,596 2,042,008 2,195,596

180,540 178,145 180,540 178,145

3,588 (18,915) 3,588 (18,915)
(1,021) (4,872) (1,021) (4,872)
199,098 28,886 199,098 28,886
2,424,303 2,378,840 2,424,303 2,378,840
(609,671) (644,888) (609,671) (644,888)

1,814,632 1,733,952 1,814,632 1,733,952

609,671 644,888 609,671 644,888

- 38,462 - 38,462

201,830 158,629 201,830 158,629
1,659,384 231,987 1,659,384 231,987
26,303 163,944 26,303 163,944

2,497,188 1,237,910 2,497,188 1,237,910

322,500 243,174 317,636 237,309

43,129 48,068 43,129 48,069
365,629 291,242 360,765 285,378
- - - 74,586

- - 86,837 -

3 } 86,837 74,586
57,500 401,050 57,500 401,050
653,442 135,335 653,442 135,335
710,942 536,385 710,942 536,385
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(@)

(b)

(©)

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY
2009 2008 2009 2008
$ $ $ $
Revenue and expenses (cont’d)
Finance costs
Interest and finance charges paid 172,101 175,565 172,101 175,565
Convertible note interest 7,979 - 7,979 -
Total finance costs 180,080 175,565 180,080 175,565

Income tax

Income tax credit
The major components of income tax credit
are:

Current income tax

Research and development tax benefit 700,092 326,450 700,092 326,450
Deferred income tax

Relating to origination and reversal of

temporary differences 21,967 (21,967) 122,244 (122,244)
Recognition of tax losses (21,967) 21,967 (122,244) 122,244

700,092 326,450 700,092 326,450
Numerical reconciliation between

aggregate tax credit recognised in the
income statement and tax expense
calculated per the statutory income tax rate

Loss before income tax expense (6,173,830) (5,783,609) (6,255,267) (5,848,422)
Income tax calculated at statutory tax rate of

30% (2008: 30%) (1,852,149) (1,735,082) (1,876,580) (1,754,527)
Tax effect of amounts which are not

deductible in calculating taxable income 2,603 860 2,603 860
Share based payments 17,250 120,315 17,250 120,315
Impairment losses - - 26,051 22,376
Tax losses and temporary differences not

recognised 1,832,296 1,613,907 1,830,676 1,610,976
Research and development tax benefit 700,092 326,450 700,092 326,450
Aggregate income tax benefit 700,092 326,450 700,092 326,450

The franking account balance at year end was $Nil (2008: $Nil)
Unrecognised temporary differences

At 30 June 2009, there are no unrecognised temporary differences associated with the Group's investments in
subsidiaries as the Group has no liability for additional taxation should unremitted earnings be remitted (2008: $nil).
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(d)

(e)

Income tax (cont’d)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in the balance sheets and the movements during the
year are as follows:

Property, Capital

plant and Intellectual raising
CONSOLIDATED equipment property Inventory  Provisions costs Others  Taxlosses  Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

At 1 July 2007 (237,467) 111,511 - 40,087 35,833 50,036 - -
Charge/(credit) to income
statement (103,177) (13,282) 69,229 (7,971) 51,580 (18,346) 21,967 -
At 30 June 2008 (340,644) 98,229 69,229 32,116 87,413 31,690 21,967 -
Charge/(credit) to income
statement 67,176 (98,229) 139,550 (32,116) (18,716)  (35,698)  (21,967) -
At 30 June 2009 (273,468) - 208,779 - 68,697 (4,008) - -

At 30 June 2009, the Group has unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences of $18,146,082 (2008:
$12,686,672) and $1,639,001 (2008: $1,062,256) respectively available for offset against future profits. A deferred
tax asset has been recognised in respect of $Nil (2008: $73,220) of such losses and $938,948 (2008: $1,062,256) of
the temporary differences. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the tax loss of $18,146,082 (2008:
$12,686,672) and the remaining deductible temporary differences of $700,053 (2008: $Nil) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Such losses may be carried forward indefinitely subject to meeting relevant
statutory tests.

Property, Capital

plant and Intellectual raising
PARENT equipment property Inventory  Provisions costs Others  Taxlosses  Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

At 1 July 2007 (225,952) - - 35,398 35,833 154,721 - -
Charge/(credit) to income
statement (109,488) (7,252) 69,229 (3,282) 51,580 (123,031) 122,244 -
At 30 June 2008 (335,440) (7,252) 69,229 32,116 87,413 31,690 122,244 -
Charge/(credit) to income
statement 61,972 7,252 139,550 (32,116) (18,716)  (35,698) (122,244)
At 30 June 2009 (273,468) - 208,779 - 68,697 (4,008) - -

At 30 June 2009, the Company has unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences of $18,081,652 (2008:
$13,080,197 and $1,363,775 (2008: $710,653) respectively available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of $Nil (2008: $407,480) of such losses and $938,948 (2008: $710,653) of the
temporary differences. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the tax loss of $18,081,652 (2008:
$12,672,717) and the remaining deductible temporary differences of $424,827 (2008: $ Nil) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Such loss may be carried forward indefinitely subject to meeting relevant
statutory tests.

Tax consolidation

The Company and its 100% owned Australian resident subsidiaries formed a tax consolidated group with effect from
1 July 2004. The Company is the head entity of the tax consolidated group. The head entity and the controlled
entities in the tax consolidated group continue to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. The Group
has applied the group allocation approach in determining the appropriate amount of current taxes and deferred taxes
to allocate to members of the tax consolidated group. The current and deferred tax amounts are measured in a
systematic manner that is consistent with the broad principles in AASB 112 Incomes Taxes. There is no tax funding
agreement in place.
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Loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the net loss from ordinary activities attributable to equity holders
of the Company for the year of $5,793,738 (2008: $5,457,159) and the weighted average of 105,464,844 (2008:
62,173,045) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share amount for the year was the same as the basic loss per share as the share options outstanding
(note 24) and convertible note (note 16) as at 30 June 2009 which are considered to be potential ordinary shares had
anti-dilutive effects on the basic loss per share.

Transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares that would change the number of ordinary shares
or potential ordinary shares outstanding between the balance sheet date and the date of the completion of these
financial statements are disclosed in notes 19 and 29 to the financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY
2009 2008 2009 2008
$ $ $ $
Remuneration of auditors
Auditors of the Company — Ernst & Young:
Audit and review of the financial report
Current year 70,575 65,600 70,575 65,600
Prior year, charged by BDO Kendalls - 36,012 - 36,012
Other accounting services - 4,000 - 4,000
70,575 105,612 70,575 105,612
Other services provided by non Ernst &
Young firms:
Taxation services 28,377 47,245 28,377 47,245
Other non-audit services 39,885 - 39,885 -
68,262 47,245 68,262 47,245
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank (6,721) 3,070,415 (7,440) 3,069,924
Cash held on security deposit 200,000 140,000 200,000 140,000
Cash on hand 45 1,000 45 1,000
193,324 3,211,415 192,605 3,210,924
Reconciliation to Cash Flow Statement
For the purpose of the Cash Flow
Statement, cash and cash equivalents
comprise the following at 30 June:
Cash assets 193,324 3,211,415 192,605 3,210,924
Cash held on security deposit (200,000) (140,000) (200,000) (140,000)
Bank overdrafts (note 16) (1,007,518) (723,342) (1,007,518) (723,342)
(1,014,194) 2,348,073 (1,014,913) 2,347,582

Cash held on security deposit represents fixed deposits for a term of 6 months maturing on 22 December 2009.
The deposit bears interest at a weighted average rate of 2.7% per annum. The deposits are pledged against the
bank facilities granted to the Company (note 16). Subsequent to the balance sheet date, cash held on security
deposit was reduced to $82,000 (note 29).
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10.

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY
2009 2008 2009 2008
$ $ $ $
Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables 23,252 63,532 23,252 63,532
Less: Allowance for impairment loss - - - -
23,252 63,532 23,252 63,532
Other receivable 320,000 - 320,000 -
Trade deposits 41,178 131,653 41,178 131,653
Prepayments 94,674 129,923 94,674 129,923
479,104 325,108 479,104 325,108

Trade receivables are non- interest bearing and are generally on 0-30 day terms. An allowance for impairment loss is
recognised when there is objective evidence that an individual trade receivable is impaired. No impairment loss has
been recognised by the Group and the Company in the years ended 30 June 2009 and 2008.

Movements in the allowance for impairment loss were as follows:

At 1 July - 7,383 - 6,244
Charge for the year - - - -
Amounts written off - (7,383) - (6,244)
At 30 June - - - -

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither individually nor collectively considered to be impaired are
as follows:

Neither past due nor impaired 3,326 7,720 3,326 7,720
Less than 1 month past due 12,233 53,580 12,233 53,580
1 to 3 months past due 7,433 2,232 7,433 2,232
Over 3 months past due 260 - 260 -

23,252 63,532 23,252 63,532

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a range of customers for whom there was no
recent history of default.

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience, management believes that no impairment allowance is
necessary in respect of these balances as there have not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances
are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Other receivable represents research and development tax benefit receivable and is considered fully recoverable.

Deposits are considered fully recoverable.
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11.

12.

13.

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY
2009 2008 2009 2008
$ $ $ $
Inventories
Work in progress — at net realisable value 84,498 547,586 84,498 547,586
Finished goods — at net realisable value 1,578,364 1,393,964 1,578,364 1,393,964
Total inventories at lower of cost and
net realisable value 1,662,862 1,941,550 1,662,862 1,941,550

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year was $421,642 (2008: $301,642) for both the Group
and the Company. This expense has been included in the cost of sales line item.

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense also includes an additional $653,442 (2008: $135,335) in respect
of provision for losses on work in progress and finished goods. This expense has been included in the other
expenses line item.

Other financial assets (non-current)

Loan to non-related entity 32,543 15,000 32,543 15,000

The loan is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed repayment terms, but it is not expected to be repaid within the
next twelve months. The loan is considered fully recoverable.

Property, plant and equipment

The Group engages Quantia Pty Limited (formerly Christie Whyte Moore), an accredited independent valuer that
uses the International Valuation Standards Committee, International Valuation Standards as a reference, to
determine the fair value of its land and building. Fair value is the amount for which the assets could be exchanged
between a knowledgeable willing buyer and a knowledgeable willing seller in an arm’s length transaction as at the
valuation date. Fair value is determined by direct reference to recent market transactions on arm’s length terms for
land and buildings comparable in size and location to those held by the Group, and to market based yields for
comparable properties. The effective date of the revaluation was 30 June 2009.

Please refer to note 16 to the financial statements for details of encumbrances.
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13.  Property, plant & equipment (cont’d)

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY o Manufacturing Eng_ineering . _ Vyorkshop
Leasehold Land & Building plant & Equipment & Office Furniture  Equipment Low

Improvements Buildings Improvements Equipment Software Motor Vehicles & Equipment pool <$400 Total
At 1 July 2007 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Cost or fair value 200,870 1,187,338 203,242 1,269,604 104,360 247,574 208,660 1,731 3,423,379
Accumulated Depreciation (47,435) - (30,580) (459,739) (41,175) (82,053) (81,269) (238) (742,489)
Net book amount 153,435 1,187,338 172,662 809,865 63,185 165,521 127,391 1,493 2,680,890
Year ended 30 June 2008
Opening net book amount 153,435 1,187,338 172,662 809,865 63,185 165,521 127,391 1,493 2,680,890
Revaluation Surplus - 142,840 - - - - - - 142,840
Additions 10,710 - 13,969 196,420 148,967 168,475 10,904 - 549,445
Disposals - - - (326) - (54,622) - (1,493) (56,441)
Depreciation Charge (48,069) - (11,068) (133,839) (19,881) (34,723) (43,663) - (291,243)
Closing Net book amount 116,076 1,330,178 175,563 872,120 192,271 244,651 94,632 - 3,025,491
At 30 June 2008
Cost or fair value 211,579 1,330,178 217,211 1,463,369 253,327 310,873 217,232 - 4,003,769
Accumulated Depreciation (95,503) - (41,648) (591,249) (61,056) (66,222) (122,600) - (978,278)
Net book amount 116,076 1,330,178 175,563 872,120 192,271 244,651 94,632 - 3,025,491
Year ended 30 June 2009
Opening net book amount 116,076 1,330,178 175,563 872,120 192,271 244,651 94,632 - 3,025,491
Additions 39,129 - 51,255 242,855 46,200 8,961 47,624 - 436,024
Disposals - - - (4,317) (12,723) (8,961) (8,609) - (34,610)
Depreciation Charge (43,129) - (13,924) (157,337) (49,422) (45,872) (36,500) - (346,184)
Closing Net book amount 112,076 1,330,178 212,894 953,321 176,326 198,779 97,147 - 3,080,721
At 30 June 2009
Cost or fair value 250,708 1,330,178 268,466 1,701,907 286,804 310,873 256,247 - 4,405,183
Accumulated Depreciation (138,632) - (55,572) (748,586) (110,478) (112,094) (159,100) - (1,324,462)
Net book amount 112,076 1,330,178 212,894 953,321 176,326 198,779 97,147 - 3,080,721
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13.  Property, plant & equipment (cont’d)

PARENT ENTITY o Manufacturing Engineering ) _ Workshop
Leasehold Land & Building plant & Equipment & Office Furniture  Equipment Low

Improvements Buildings Improvements Equipment Software Motor Vehicles & Equipment pool <$400 Total $
At 1 July 2007 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Cost or fair value 200,870 1,187,338 203,242 1,007,619 104,360 247,574 203,046 1,731 3,155,780
Accumulated Depreciation (47,435) - (30,580) (234,226) (41,175) (82,053) (77,565) (238) (513,272)
Net book amount 153,435 1,187,338 172,662 773,393 63,185 165,521 125,481 1,493 2,642,508
Year ended 30 June 2008
Opening net book amount 153,435 1,187,338 172,662 773,393 63,185 165,521 125,481 1,493 2,642,508
Revaluation Surplus - 142,840 - - - - - - 142,840
Additions 10,710 - 13,969 196,420 148,967 168,475 10,904 - 549,445
Disposals - - - - - (54,622) - (1,493) (56,115)
Depreciation Charge (48,069) - (11,068) (128,352) (19,881) (34,723) (43,285) - (285,378)
Closing Net book amount 116,076 1,330,178 175,563 841,461 192,271 244,651 93,100 - 2,993,300
At 30 June 2008
Cost or fair value 211,579 1,330,178 217,210 1,204,276 253,327 310,873 213,950 - 3,741,393
Accumulated Depreciation (95,503) - (41,647) (362,815) (61,056) (66,222) (120,850) - (748,093)
Net book amount 116,076 1,330,178 175,563 841,461 192,271 244,651 93,100 - 2,993,300
Year ended 30 June 2009
Opening net book amount 116,076 1,330,178 175,563 841,461 192,271 244,651 93,100 - 2,993,300
Additions 39,129 - 51,255 242,855 46,200 8,961 47,624 - 436,024
Disposals - - - (2,907) (12,723) (8,961) (8,195) - (32,786)
Depreciation Charge (43,129) - (13,924) (153,451) (49,422) (45,872) (36,582) - (342,380)
Closing Net book amount 112,076 1,330,178 212,894 927,958 176,326 198,779 95,947 - 3,054,158
At 30 June 2009
Cost or fair value 250,708 1,330,178 268,465 1,444,224 286,804 310,873 253,379 - 4,144,631
Accumulated Depreciation (138,632) - (55,571) (516,266) (110,478) (112,094) (157,432) - (1,090,473)
Net book amount 112,076 1,330,178 212,894 927,958 176,326 198,779 95,947 - 3,054,158
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14.

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY
2009 2008 2009 2008
$ $ $ $
Goodwill & intellectual property
Intellectual Property — Sprintex® Technology 30,281 30,281 - -
Goodwill 479,136 479,136 - -

509,417 509,417 - -

Intellectual property — Sprintex® Technology represented patents acquired through business combinations and are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. The patents have been granted terms up to
January 2013 or January 2014 by the relevant government agency with the option of renewal without significant cost
at the end of this period.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating units (CGUs) that are
expected to benefit from that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill of the Group has been
allocated to the Sprintex® CGU. The recoverable amount of this CGU has been determined based on the value in
use calculations using cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-
year period.. The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 14%. Cash flows beyond the five year
period are extrapolated using a pricing growth rate of 3% .

The calculation of value in use is most sensitive to the following key assumptions:

Royalty income rates
The royalty rate used of 3% is consistent with the rate observed in the industry for licensing out the use of technological
patents similar to compressors.

Revenue

Management determined the budgeted units to be sold based on its expectation for market development and best
estimate of the demand for the Company’s products from market data available for similar products and future
production capacity.

Discount rates

Discount rates reflect management’s estimate of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU. In
determining an appropriate discount rate to apply to the forecast cash flows, regard has been given to the risk free
investment rate, observed market cost of debt and equity and discount rates of comparable companies in the industry.

Pricing growth rate
This is the long term rate used to extrapolate the budget beyond the five year projection and is based on industry
averages.

Production costs and gross margins
Production costs estimates are obtained from available quotations or best estimates of the component prices, and gross
margins are determined based on its expectation for market development and industry data.

The directors believe that any reasonable possible change in the key assumptions on which recoverable amount is based
would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the CGU.

As the recoverable amount of CGU as determined by the value in use calculations is higher than the carrying values of
the goodwill, no impairment loss for the goodwill is considered necessary.
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15.

16.

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY

2009 2008
$ $
Trade and other payables
Trade payables 502,538 385,054
Other payables and accruals 613,133 488,902

PARENT ENTITY
2009 2008
$ $

502,538 385,054
613,133 488,902

1,115,671 873,956

1,115,671 873,956

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are predominately settled on 30 day terms.

Interest bearing borrowings

Current

Bank overdraft (secured) (note a) 1,007,518 723,342
Insurance premium funding (unsecured) (note b) 65,766 89,034
Finance lease liabilities (note 25) 327,814 208,840
Convertible note (note e) 142,010 -
Loans from related parties (note f) 616,971

1,007,518 723,342

65,766 89,034
327,814 208,840
142,010 -
616,971

2,160,079 1,021,216

2,160,079 1,021,216

Non-current
Finance lease liabilities (note 25) 232,199 372,534

232,199 372,534

Bank overdrafts are repayable on demand. The average effective interest rate on bank overdrafts approximated
10.17% (2008: 10.33%) per annum in the year and is determined based on 1% plus commercial base rate of the

banker. Details of securities are disclosed in note (d) below.

Insurance premium funding is unsecured and due for repayment over 10 equal instalments. The effective interest

rate of the loan was 4.55% (2008: 8.71%) per annum for the year.

The average effective interest rate on finance lease liabilities approximated 9.48% (2008: 8.81%) per annum in the

year. Other details of finance lease liabilities are disclosed in note 25.

As at 30 June 2009, bank overdrafts and finance lease liabilities of $1,007,518 (2008: $723,342) and $152,503
(2008: $194,769) respectively and a guarantee of $82,000 (2008: $82,000) granted by the banker are secured by the

following:

o fixed and floating charge over the assets and undertakings of the Company;

e mortgage over land and buildings with a carrying value of $1,330,178 (2008: $1,330,178) (note 13);
e plant and equipment with total carrying value of $153,592 (2008: $180,522) held under finance leases and hire

purchase arrangements;

e alegal right of set off enabling the bank to set off cash security deposits of $200,000 (2008: $140,000) against

the interest obligations of at least one year (note 9); and

e guarantee and indemnity given by the two executive directors to the extent of $1,290,000 (2008: $1,290,000);

The above banking facilities, in total extent of $1,290,000 (2008: $1,290,000), were utilised to the extent of
$1,242,021 at 30 June 2009 (2008: $1,000,111). Subsequent to the balance sheet, extent of banking facility was
reduced to $1,082,000 as a result of repayment of finance leases and hire purchase arrangements (note 29).

48



AUTOMOTIVE TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009

16.

O

®

Interest bearing borrowings (cont’d)
Convertible note

On 3 May 2006, the Company entered into an agreement with China Automotive Holdings Limited, a company
controlled by Mr Richard Siemens, non-executive chairman and convertible notes in the principal amount of
$1,200,000 were issued to the Company maturing on 36 months from 5 September 2005. The convertible notes
carried a coupon interest rate of 5% per annum.

The carrying amount of the convertible notes in issue was split into the equity and liability components at the date of
grant at $305,475 and $894,525 respectively. The fair value of the liability component was calculated using a market
interest rate of 17.25% per annum at the date of grant. The residual amount of $305,475 representing the value of the
equity conversion component, was included in equity as Convertible Note Equity. The convertible notes were fully
converted into 800,000 shares at $1.50 per share on 18 December 2007 (note 19).

On 21 January 2009, the Company entered into an agreement with a non-related party and a convertible note in the
principal amount of $150,000 was issued by the Company maturing on 30 June 2010. The convertible note carries a
coupon interest rate of 8.25% per annum. The convertible note entitles the noteholder to convert to ordinary shares
of the Company at a price of $0.20 per share for the period to 30 June 2010.

The carrying amount of the convertible note in issue was split into the equity and liability components at the date of
grant at $10,886 and $139,114 respectively. The fair value of the liability component was calculated using a market
interest rate of 13.3% per annum at the date of grant. The residual amount of $10,886 representing the value of the
equity conversion component, was included in equity as Convertible Note Equity.

The movement of the convertible notes for the years is set out below:

Equity Liability
component  component Total
$ $ $

(Note 20)
At 1 July 2007 305,475 1,043,659 1,349,134
Conversion into ordinary shares (305,475) (1,043,659) (1,349,134)
At 30 June 2008 - - -
Issuance of convertible note 10,886 139,114 150,000
Imputed interest - 7,979 7,979
Coupon interest paid - (5,083) (5,083)
At 30 June 2009 10,886 142,010 152,896

Loans from related parties

Loans from related parties represented unsecured loans from three shareholders, bearing interest at 8.25% per
annum. Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the shareholders have confirmed that they shall take up their
respective entitlements to the one for one Entitlement Issue, as further discussed in events subsequent to balance
sheet date (note 29) to the extent in full or in part of the loans already advanced to the Company.
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CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY
2009 2008 2009 2008
$ $ $ $
17.  Provisions
Provision for warranty 22,484 28,646 22,484 28,646
Provision for employee entitlements 80,973 76,508 80,973 76,508
103,457 105,154 103,457 105,154

Movements in the provision for warranty for the Group and the Company during the financial year are set out below:

$
At 1 July 2008 28,646
Written back/utilisation of provisions (6,162)
At 30 June 2009 22,484

Warranty provision

Under the terms of the Group’s sales arrangements, the Group will rectify any product defects arising within one
year of the date of sale. Provision is therefore made for the present value of the management’s best estimate of the
expected settlement under these agreements in respect of sales made within the year prior to the balance sheet date.

The estimate has been made on the basis of the Group’s historical warranty trends and industry averages for
defective products and is only made where a warranty claim is probable.

18.  Other liabilities
Amounts due to directors 107,175 17,972 107,175 17,972

Amounts due to directors represented accrued management remuneration and expenses paid by the directors on the
Company’s behalf. The amounts were unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
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19.

(@)

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY
2009 2008 2009 2008
$ $ $ $
Contributed equity
Paid up capital — ordinary shares 21,846,120 21,225,030 21,846,120 21,225,030
Capital raising costs capitalised (625,114) (609,707) (625,114) (609,707)

Subscription proceeds — shares to be issued (i) 401,910

21,221,006 20,615,323 21,221,006 20,615,323
401,910

21,622,916 20,615,323 21,622,916 20,615,323

Ordinary shares

Movements in ordinary share capital Number of
Date shares $

Balance at 1 July 2008 102,944,000 20,615,323
Issue of Placement Shares at $0.12 each (note i) Feb to Jun 2009 5,150,750 618,090
Issuance of shares at $0.12 each (note ii) 23 Mar 2009 25,000 3,000
Less capital raising costs capitalised (15,407)
Contributions to equity net of transaction costs

during the year 605,683
Balance as at 30 June 2009 108,119,750 21,221,006

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at
shareholders meetings.

In the event of a winding up of the Company, ordinary shareholders rank after all other shareholders and creditors,
and are fully entitled to any surplus proceeds of liquidation.

0]

(i)

Placement of 8,500,000 ordinary shares at an offer price of $0.12 per share

On 11 February 2009, the Company announced its intention to issue up to 8,500,000 shares at an offer price of
$0.12 per share to related parties and other sophisticated investors for working capital. The structure of the
placement was a subscription of one ordinary shares of the Company for $0.12 per share (“Placement Shares”)
and purchase of one ordinary share from CMIH Enterprises Pty Limited, a controlled entity of Mr Anthony
Hamilton for $0.05 per share. As of the date of this report, 5,150,750 Placement Shares has been allotted. A
further of 3,349,250 shares shall be allotted to shareholders upon the approval from shareholders. Related
subscription of $401,910 has been received from three shareholders, including entities controlled by Mr Rick
Siemens and Mr Steve Apedaile, both directors of the Company. Should shareholder approval not be obtained
the subscription proceeds are refundable together with interest calculated at 8.25% per annum.

Shares at A$0.12 per share

Pursuant to a board resolution dated 20 February 2009, 25,000 ordinary shares at $0.12 per share were issued on
23 March 2009 to a shareholder of the Company in consideration of the shareholder granting an unsecured loan
of $100,000 to the Company on 30 December 2008. The loan was fully repaid on 20 January 2009.

(iii) Issue of Ordinary Shares subsequent to balance sheet date

On 28 August 2009, 8,500,000 ordinary shares at $0.05 per share were issued to an existing shareholder and
subscription proceeds of $425,000 was received.
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19.

(b)

20.

(@)

(b)

(©)

Contributed equity (cont’d)

Converting performance shares

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the shareholders’ meeting held on 30 January 2008, the Company created
two additional classes of shares, being share classes “A” and “B”. On 28 March 2008, the Company issued
17,099,500 new Class “A” Converting Performance Shares and 17,099,500 new Class “B” Converting Performance
Shares as a bonus issue to shareholders of the Company as at 30 January 2008 (except for the subscribers to the Seed
Capital) on the basis of 1 Class “A” Converting Performance Share and 1 Class “B” Converting Performance Share
for every 4 Ordinary shares held.

Each Class “A” Converting Performance Share shall convert into 1 ordinary share of the Company if the Company
achieves either a net profit after tax of $6 million for the financial year ended 30 June 2009 or a net profit after tax of
$16 million for the combined financial years ended 30 June 2009 and 2010, whichever occurs earlier. Each Class
“B” Converting Performance Share shall convert into 1 ordinary share of the Company if the Company achieves
either a net profit after tax of $10 million for the financial year ending 30 June 2010 or a net profit after tax of $16
million for the combined financial years ended 30 June 2009 and 2010, whichever occurs earlier. Both Class “A”
and Class “B” Converting Performance Share do not entitle the holder to vote on any resolutions proposed at a
general meeting of shareholders, do not entitle the holder to any dividends, not transferable and can only participate
in the surplus profits or assets of the Company upon winding up of the Company only to the extent of $0.0001 per
Class “A” or Class “B” Converting Performance Share.

Reserves

Convertible note equity

The equity component of convertible note represents the value of the unexercised equity component of convertible
note issued by the Company recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for convertible notes in
note 16.

Asset revaluation reserve
The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements in the fair value of land and buildings to
the extent that they offset one another. The reserve can only be used to pay dividends in limited circumstances.

Share option reserve

Share option reserve represents the fair value of the actual or estimated number of unexercised share options granted
to management and consultants of the Company recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
share-based payments in note 24.
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21.

@)

(b)

22.

(@)

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY
2009 2008 2009 2008
$ $ $ $
Cash flow statement reconciliation
Reconciliation of cash flows from operating
activities to operating loss after income tax
Operating loss after income tax (5,473,738)  (5,457,159) (5,555,175)  (5,521,970)
Add non-cash items:
Share based payments 57,500 401,050 57,500 401,050
Convertible note imputed interest in excess of
coupon interest 2,896 - 2,896 -
Convertible note interest waived - (194,924) - (194,924)
Depreciation and amortisation 365,629 291,242 360,765 285,378
Impairment loss - - 86,837 74,586
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and
equipment 4,219 (20,415) 3,455 (20,415)
Exchange difference 3,022 (132,352) 3,250 (132,328)
Changes in assets and liabilities
Increase in trade and other receivables (153,996) (132,770) (153,996) (141,659)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 278,688 (237,881) 278,688 (237,881)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 241,715 (213,252) 241,715 (184,890)
Decrease in provision for warranty (6,162) (26,021) (6,162) (10,390)
Increase/(decrease) in provision for employee
entitlements 4,465 (27,554) 4,465 (4,318)
Net cash flows used in operating activities (4,675,762)  (5,750,036) (4,675,762)  (5,687,761)

Non-cash financing and investing activities

During the year ended 30 June 2009, the Group acquired $92,500 of equipment under finance leases. This
acquisition will be reflected in the cash flow statement over the terms of the finance leases via lease repayments.

Related party disclosures
Subsidiaries

The following were controlled entities at 30 June 2009 and are included in the consolidated financial statements. All
of the controlled entities have the same financial year as the parent

Country of % Equity Interest Investment
Name of Entity Incorporation 2009 2008 2009 2008
$ $
Sprintex Australasia Pty Limited Australia 100 100 479,136 479,136
Vee Two Pty Limited Australia 100 100 140,000 140,000
AAC Property Investments Pty Limited Australia 100 100 556 556
Automotive Technology Group Limited British Virgin 100 100 4,400 4,400
Islands
Provision for impairment (87,393) (556)

536,699 623,536
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22.

(b)

23.

(@)

(b)

Related party disclosures (cont’d)
Transactions with related parties

There are no transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries. Save as disclosed in notes 16, 18, 19(a), 24, 25
and 29 to the financial statements, the Group does not have transactions with other related parties.

The compensation of key management personnel and other details are set out in note 23 to the financial statements.
Key management personnel disclosures
Details of key management personnel

Parent Entity Directors

Mr R SIEMENS ...ocvvevieieieece e Non-Executive Chairman

Mr S Apedaile........ccooooiiiniiiii Executive Director — Corporate (resigned on 13 September 2009)
............................................................. Managing Director (effective from 14 September 2009)

Mr A Hamilton.......c.cccovevevcicieccn Executive Director — Operations (resigned on 31 August 2009)

............................................................. Non Executive Director (effective from 1 September 2009;
............................................................. resigned on 14 September 2009)

Other Key Management Personnel

MS E Chan®........ccoovevvmreereenrsrensenenn, Chief Financial Officer

Mr JWilliams ..o, General Manager - Operations

MrJ UPLON.....ccoiiee Business Development Manager

Mr R Griffin......cccooiiii Production and Supply Chain Manager
Mr S WilKinson? .........o.cocveveveeenennn, Sales & Marketing Manager

1. Joined 9 September 2008
2. Resigned 11 September 2009

Key management personnel compensation

The key management personnel compensation is as follows:

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY
2009 2008 2009 2008
$ $ $ $
Short-term employee benefits 1,234,662 1,168,320 1,234,662 1,168,320
Post employment benefits 30,078 33,902 30,078 33,902
Share-based payments - 288,650 - 288,650
Total 1,264,740 1,490,872 1,264,740 1,490,872
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23.  Key management personnel disclosures (cont’d)

(c)  Option holdings of key management personnel

Balance at Vested as of
end of period 30 June 2009
30 June 2008 and
Directors and 2009 exercisable
Mr R Siemens 1,500,000 1,500,000
Mr S Apedaile 1,500,000 1,500,000
Mr A Hamilton 1,500,000 1,500,000

4,500,000 4,500,000

No options have been granted during the year ended 30 June 2009 to key management personnel.
(d)  Shareholdings of key management personnel
Ordinary shares

The following table shows the movement during the year in the number of ordinary shares in Automotive Technology
Group Limited held directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each key management personnel, including their related

parties:
Held at
Held at Received as Other 30 June
Year ended 30 June 2009 1July 2008  remuneration changes 2009
Directors
Mr R Siemens 13,860,170 - 5,970,000 19,830,170
Mr S Apedaile 14,140,170 - 856,760 14,996,930
Mr A Hamilton 13,860,170 - (5,500,000) 8,360,170
Other key management personnel
Mr J Upton 400,000 - - 400,000
Mr R Griffin 30,000 - 37,050 67,050
Mr S Wilkinson 50,000 - - 50,000
Mr J Williams 25,000 - 187,400 212,400
42,365,510 - 1,551,210 43,916,720
Other
changes Group Held at
Year ended Held at prior to Share re- Received as Other 30 June
30 June 2008 1 July 2007  share split split structure remuneration changes 2008
Directors
Mr R Siemens - 846,667 2,540,001 9,955,168 - 518,334 13,860,170
Mr S Apedaile 800,000 46,667 2,540,001 9,955,169 - 798,333 14,140,170
Mr A Hamilton 800,000 46,666 2,539,998 9,955,173 - 518,333 13,860,170
Other key management personnel
Mr J Upton 50,000 - 150,000 200,000 - - 400,000
Mr R Griffin - - - - 30,000 - 30,000
Mr S Wilkinson - - - 50,000 - - 50,000
Mr J Williams - - - - 25,000 - 25,000
Mr J Scoringe! 20,000 - 60,000 319,986 - - 399,986
Mr C Henry 140,000 (140,000) - - - - -
Mr J Lawrence - - - 20,000 - - 20,000
1,810,000 800,000 7,830,000 30,455,496 55,000 1,835,000 42,785,496

1. Resigned 25 July 2008
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23.

24,

Key management personnel disclosures (cont’d)

Converting performance shares

The following table shows the movement during the year ended 30 June 2009 in the number of converting
performance shares in Automotive Technology Group Limited held directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each key
management personnel, including their related parties:

Class A Class B Balance held at
Converting Converting 30 June 2008
performance performance and 2009
Directors shares shares
Mr R Siemens 3,335,458 3,335,458 6,670,916
Mr S Apedaile 3,210,458 3,210,458 6,420,916
Mr A Hamilton 3,210,458 3,210,458 6,420,916
9,756,374 9,756,374 19,512,748

All equity transactions with key management personnel other than arising from the granting of employee shares have
been entered into under terms and conditions no more favourable than those the Group would have adopted if dealing
at arm’s length.

Share based payment transactions

The Company has established an employee share option plan (“ESOP”) for all employees or consultants of the
Group. The ESOP is designed to provide eligible participants with an ownership interest in the Company and to
provide additional incentives for eligible participants to increase profitability and returns to shareholders. Options
are issued for no consideration and the exercise price shall be as the directors in their absolute discretion determine,
provided the exercise price shall not be less than the weighted average of the last sale price of the Company’s Shares
on ASX at the close of business on each of the 5 Business Days immediately preceding the date on which the
directors resolve to grant the options.

The Options may not be exercised until the shares of the Company have been quoted on ASX throughout the 12
month period immediately preceding the exercise of the Options, without suspension during that period exceeding in
total 2 trading days. If the options remain unexercised after a period of 5 years from the date of grant, the options
expire. Options are forfeited immediately if the employee leaves the Group before the above condition is met or 60
days after the leave of the employee if the above condition is met.

As at 30 June 2008 and 2009, no options were granted in respect of the ESOP.

On 29 February 2008, 6,500,000 options were granted to directors and a non-related consultant, Taylor Collison
Limited, with an exercise price of $0.3, exercisable at any time on or prior to 3:00 pm (WST) on 31 December 2010.
Each option entitles the holder to one ordinary share of the Company. The shares issued upon exercise of the options
will rank pari passu in all respects with the issued ordinary shares of the Company.

On 11 September 2008, 1,000,000 options were granted to three non-related consultants, with an exercise price of
$0.30, exercisable at any time on or prior to 3:00 pm (WST) on 31 December 2010 for the provision of corporate
advisory services to the Group during the period 15 July 2008 to 30 June 2010. Each option entitles the holder to
one ordinary share of the Company. The shares issued upon exercise of the options will rank pari passu in all
respects with the issued ordinary shares of the Company.
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24.

Share based payment transactions (cont’d)

The number and weighted average exercise prices of the share options granted during the year are as follows:

Weighted
Options Options Number of average
granted to granted to share exercise
directors consultants options price
Outstanding at beginning of year 4,500,000 2,000,000 6,500,000 $0.30
Granted during the year - 1,000,000 1,000,000 $0.30
Outstanding at the end of year 4,500,000 3,000,000 7,500,000 $0.30

Exercisable at end of year 7,500,000

The options granted during the year ended 30 June 2009 have a remaining contractual life of 1.5 years and an
estimated fair value of $0.005 per option per month, determined based on the fair value of the service fee charged by
the consultants.

The options granted during the year ended 30 June 2008 also have a remaining contractual life of 1.5 years and the
estimated fair value of the options granted is $0.0617. The fair value was calculated using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

Underlying share price $0.21
Exercise price $0.3
Expected volatility 53.42%
Expected life 3 years
Risk free rate 6.63%

Expected dividend yield -

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the share prices of listed companies with
profile similar to the Company. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best
estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural consideration. The Company has
not forecasted any future dividend payments.

The Group recognised total expenses of $57,500 (2008: $401,050) related to equity-settled share based payment
transactions during the year as follows:

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY
2009 2008 2009 2008
$ $ $ $
Unlisted management options - 277,650 - 277,650
Unlisted consultants options 57,500 123,400 57,500 123,400
Total share based payments 57,500 401,050 57,500 401,050
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25.

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Commitments

Operating lease commitments

The Group is the lessee in respect of certain property and items of plant and machinery and office equipment held
under operating leases. The lease for the property has a term of 10 years from 1 July 2006 and lease payments are

increased every year with indexation to reflect market rentals. The lease does not include contingent rentals.

At the balance sheet date, the Group and the Company had outstanding minimum commitments under non-
cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:-

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY
2009 2008 2009 2008
$ $ $ $
Within one year 158,168 127,786 158,168 127,786
After one year but not more than five years 632,674 511,144 632,674 511,144
After more than five years 316,337 383,358 316,337 383,358
Total minimum lease payments 1,107,179 1,022,288 1,107,179 1,022,288

Finance lease and hire purchase commitments

The Group leases certain plant and equipment under finance leases expiring from 1 to 5 years. At the end of the lease
terms the Group owns the equipment outright or has the option to purchase the equipment for the residual amount
owing. The Group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets.

Within one year 384,787 251,989 384,787 251,989
After one year but not more than five years 255,940 416,872 255,940 416,872
Total minimum lease payments 640,727 668,861 640,727 668,861
Less: amounts representing finance charges (80,714) (87,487) (80,714) (87,487)
Present value of minimum lease payments 560,013 581,374 560,013 581,374

Included in the financial statements as:
Current interest-bearing liabilities (note 16) 327,814 208,840 327,814 208,840
Non-current interest-bearing liabilities (note 16) 232,199 372,534 232,199 372,534
560,013 581,374 560,013 581,374

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, finance lease liability of $152,503 was repaid. Accordingly, finance lease
commitments after one year but more than five years of $118,636 were treated as commitments within one year (note
29).

Capital commitments

Capital commitments outstanding at the balance sheet date in respect of acquisition of property plant and equipment
contracted for but not provided for in the financial statements were $Nil (2008: $193,500).

Other commitments

Commitments outstanding at the balance sheet date in respect of consultancy agreements with directors contracted for
but not provided for in the financial statements were $320,000 (2008: $920,000).
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Capital risk management

When managing capital, management's objective is to ensure the entity continues as a going concern as well as to
maintain optimal returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. Management also aims to maintain a
capital structure that ensures the lowest cost of capital available to the entity.

Management are constantly adjusting the capital structure to take advantage of favourable costs of capital or high
returns on assets. As the market is constantly changing, management may change the amount of dividends to be paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

During 2009, no dividends have been paid. The Company does not yet have a dividend policy and payment of future
dividends will be dependent upon the future profitability and financial position of the Company.

The capital structure of the Group consists of total debts, which includes the interest-bearing borrowings, convertible
notes and finance lease liabilities as detailed in note 16, cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company, comprising contributed equity, reserves and accumulated losses as disclosed in notes 19 and
20 respectively.

Management monitor capital through the gearing ratio (net debt / total capital) and (total debt/total equity). For this
purpose the Group defines net debts as total debts as defined above, less cash and cash equivalents. The gearing ratios
at 30 June 2009 and 2008 were as follows:

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY
2009 2008 2009 2008
$ $ $ $

Total debts 2,392,278 1,393,750 2,392,278 1,393,750
Less: cash and cash equivalents (193,324)  (3,211,415) (192,605)  (3,210,924)
Net debt 2,198,954 (1,817,665) 2,199,673  (1,817,174)
Total equity 2,239,390 6,637,149 2,239,390 6,718,586
Total capital 4,438,344 4,819,484 4,439,063 4,901,412
Gearing ratio
Net debt / total capital 50% N/A 50% N/A

Financial risk management

The Group's and the Company’s principal financial instruments comprise receivables, payables, interest bearing
borrowings and overdrafts, convertible notes, finance lease liabilities, cash and short-term deposits.

Exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk arises in the normal course of the Group’s
and the Company’s business.

The Group manages its exposure to key financial risks, including interest rate and currency risk in accordance with
the Group's financial risk management policy. The objective of the policy is to support the delivery of the Group's
financial targets whilst protecting future financial security. Debt borrowings are driven by balancing cash, short term
borrowings and longer term capital financing of the business.
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Financial risk management (cont’d)
Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade and other receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit
risk arises from potential default of the counter party, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of
each financial asset in the balance sheet after deducting any impairment allowance.

Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making payments when due
and current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to the customers as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customers operate. Trade receivables are due within 0 to 30 days from the date
of billing. Debtors with balances that are more than 3 months past due are requested to settle all outstanding
balances before any further credit is granted. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

At the balance sheet date, the Group and the Company has improved the level of concentration of credit risk as only
38% of total trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest debtor, while in the year ended 30 June 2008, 81%
of the total trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk arising from
trade and other receivables are set out in note 10.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank
overdrafts, bank loans, convertible notes, finance leases and committed available credit lines and to regularly
monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending covenants

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group’s financial
liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates, or if floating, based on rates current at the balance sheet date) and the earliest date the Group can
be required to pay. Since the Company is the main operating entity, only the analysis for the Group’s contractual
maturities of undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities is presented.

More than More than
Total contractual Within 1 1 year but 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted year or on less than Less than
Year ended 30 June 2009 amount cash flow demand 2 years 5 years
Trade and other payables 1,115,671 1,115,671 1,115,671 - -
Loans from related entities 724,145 775,046 775,046 - -
Bank overdrafts 1,007,518 1,109,982 1,109,982 - -
Insurance premium funding 65,766 68,761 68,761 - -
Finance lease liabilities 560,013 640,727 384,787 171,414 84,526
Convertible note 142,010 162,714 162,714 - -
3,615,123 3,872,901 3,616,961 171,414 84,526
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Financial risk management (cont’d)

Year ended 30 June 2008

Trade and other payables
Bank overdrafts

Insurance premium funding
Finance lease liabilities
Directors loan account

Interest rate risk

More than More than
Total contractual Within 1 1 year but 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted year or on less than Less than
amount cash flow demand 2 years 5 years
873,956 873,956 873,956 - -
723,342 798,063 798,063 - -
89,034 93,361 93,361 - -
581,374 668,861 251,989 187,347 229,525
17,972 17,972 17,972 - -
2,285,678 2,452,213 2,035,341 187,347 229,525

The Group’s and the Company’s interest rate risk arises primarily from interest bearing financial assets and financial
liabilities. Financial instruments issued at variable rates and at fixed rates expose the Group and the Company to
cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest risk respectively. At balance sheet date, the interest rate profile of
the carrying value of the Group’s and the Company’s interest bearing financial assets and liabilities are set out in the

following tables:

Year ended 30 June 2009

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities

Bank overdrafts

Insurance premium funding
Finance lease liabilities
Convertible note

Loans from related parties

Floating Fixed interest
interest rate rate Total
$ $ $
(6,722) 200,000 193,278
1,007,518 - 1,007,518
- 65,766 65,766
- 560,013 560,013
- 142,010 142,010
- 616,971 616,971
1,007,518 1,384,760 2,392,278
1,014,240 1,184,760 2,199,000
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Financial risk management (cont’d)

Interest rate risk (cont’d)

Floating Fixed

Year ended 30 June 2008 interest rate  interest rate Total

$ $ $
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3,071,415 140,000 3,211,415
Financial liabilities
Bank overdrafts 723,342 - 723,342
Insurance premium funding - 89,034 89,034
Finance lease liabilities - 581,374 581,374

723,342 670,408 1,393,750

2,348,073 (530,408) 1,817,665

The interest rates and terms of repayment of the Group’s and the Company’s borrowings are disclosed in note 18 to
the financial statements.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for floating rate instruments

An increase of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased net loss and accumulated
losses by $10,142 (2008: decreased by $23,481). A decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates will have the same
amount but opposite financial effect on net loss and accumulated losses.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at the
balance sheet date and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for financial instruments in existence at
that date. The 100 basis point increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible
change in interest rates over the period until the next annual balance sheet date based on historical market trend. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2008.

Currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the operations to which they relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are

primarily Euros, United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars, British Pounds and Swedish Kroner.

All the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the functional currency of the entity taking out the loan. Given this,
management does not expect that there will be any currency risk associated with the Group’s borrowings.
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Financial risk management (cont’d)
Currency risk (cont’d)

The following table details the Group’s and the Company’s exposure at the balance sheet date to currency risk

arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity
to which they relate.

2009 2008
Hong

Swedish British Kong Swedish
Euros US dollars  Kroner Pounds dollars Euros US dollars  Kroner

EUR uUsD SEK GBP HKD EUR uUsD SEK
Trade and other receivables 295 - 222,700 721 - 409 - -
Cash and cash equivalents - 320 - - 1,759 - 320 1,185
Trade and other payables (49,383)  (21,900) (222,700) - (26,930)  (63,736) (802) -
Overall net exposure (49,088)  (21,580) - 721 (25,171)  (63,327) (482) 1,185

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s loss after taxation and accumulated losses in
response to reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure at
the balance sheet date. The sensitivity analysis includes balances between group companies where the denomination
of the balances is in a currency other than the functional currencies of the lender or the borrower. A positive number
below indicates a decrease in net loss for the year and accumulated losses where the AUD weakens against the
relevant currency. For a strengthening of the AUD against the relevant currency, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the net loss and accumulated losses, and the balances below would be negative.

2009 2008
Effect on Effect on
Increase in loss for the Increase in loss for the
foreign year and foreign year and
exchange  accumulated  exchange  accumulated
rates losses rates losses
$ $
Euros 4% (3,564) 10% (10,148)
United States dollars 5% (1,412) 10% (57)
Swedish Kroner 9% - - -
British Pounds 15% 261 - -
Hong Kong dollars 5% (210) 10% 16

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the
balance sheet date and had been applied to each of the group entities; exposure to currency risk for financial
instruments in existence at that date, and that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

The stated changes represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates
over the period until the next annual balance sheet date. Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the effects on each of the group entities’ net loss for the year and accumulated losses
measured in the respective functional currencies, translated into AUD at the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet
date for presentation purposes. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2008.
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Financial risk management (cont’d)
Fair value estimation

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially different from their fair values as at 30 June 2009 and
2008.

The carrying value of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their short
term nature. The fair value of financial liabilities is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the
current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments, as detailed in notes 16.
The directors consider that the change in interest rates will not cause a significant impact on the fair values of the
financial liabilities.

Summary of financial instruments by category

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as recognised at 30 June 2009 and 2008
may be categorised as follows:

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PARENT ENTITY
2009 2008 2009 2008
$ $ $ $
Financial assets
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash
equivalents) 577,754 3,289,947 577,035 3,289,456
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 3,615,123 2,285,678 4,017,034 2,285,678

Events subsequent to balance sheet date

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 13 August 2009, the Company has received and accepted the
resignation of Mr Anthony Hamilton as Executive Director- Operations effective 31 August 2009. The Board has
agreed terms with Mr Hamilton who will remain as a non-executive director until no later than 31 October 20009.

As disclosed in more detail in the Company’s announcements dated 26 August and 2 September 2009, the Company
entered into a Placement and Underwriting Agreement (the “Agreement”) with an existing shareholder to raise up to
$6,255,988. The Underwriting relates to an Entitlement Offer of a one for one non-renounceable rights issue of fully
paid ordinary shares in the Company at an issue price of $0.05 per share (“Entitlement Issue™) to raise up to
approximately $5,830,988. In accordance with the Agreement, the shareholder will subscribe 8,500,000 placement
shares at $0.05 per share and underwrite up to 20 million fully paid ordinary shares at $0.05 per share of the shortfall
of the Entitlement Issue. Four shareholders including entities controlled by Mr Richard Siemens and entities
controlled by Mr Steve Apedaile, both directors of the Company have agreed with the Company to subscribe for
34,383,837 new shares, in total of $1,714,142 under their entitlements.

As of the date of this report, the shareholder has subscribed 8,500,000 placement shares at $0.05 per share and
applications for 27,833,153 entitlement shares in total have been received.

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, finance lease liability of $152,503 was repaid and the security against the plant
and equipment held under finance leases and hire purchase arrangements with total carrying value of $152,592 as at
30 June 2009 was released. Pledged fixed deposit of $118,000 was released to partially settle the finance lease
liabilities.

64



AUTOMOTIVE TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Automotive Technology Group Limited, we state that:

1.

a.

In the opinion of the directors:

The financial statements and notes included in the directors’ report designation as audited, of the Company
and of the consolidated entity are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i)  comply with the Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(i) give a true and fair view of the Company’s and consolidated entity’s financial positions as at 30 June
2009 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and

Subject to note 2 (b) to the financial statements, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company
will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the directors in
accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 2009.

Dated at Perth this 30" day of September 2009.

Steven Apedaile
Managing Director
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Independent audit report to the members of Automotive Technology Group
Limited

Report on the Financial Report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Automotive Technology Group Limited, which
comprises the balance sheet as at 30 June 2009, and the income statement, statement of changes in equity
and cash flow statement for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies, other
explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the
entities it controlled at the year's end or from time to time during the financial year.

Directors' Responsibility for the Financial Report

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report
in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations)
and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal controls
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. In Note 2, the directors also state that
the financial report, comprising the financial statements and notes, complies with International Financial
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with
relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial report. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, we consider internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Independence

In conducting our audit we have met the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. We have
given to the directors of the company a written Auditor’'s Independence Declaration, a copy of which is
included in the directors’ report.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional
Standards Legislation
PM:MB:ATG:011
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Auditor’s Opinion
In our opinion:

1. the financial report of Automotive Technology Group Limited is in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, including:

i giving a true and fair view of the financial position of Automotive Technology Group Limited
and the consolidated entity at 30 June 2009 and of their performance for the year ended on
that date; and

ii complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

2. the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board.

Report on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 10 to 15 of the directors’ report for the year
ended 30 June 2009. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of
the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with
Australian Auditing Standards.

Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Automotive Technology Group Limited for the year ended 30 June
2009, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Inherent Uncertainty Regarding Continuation as a Going Concern

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2(b) in the financial report which indicates that the
company and the consolidated entity incurred losses of $5,473,738 during the year ended 30 June 2009 and
at that date their current liabilities exceeded their current assets by $1,151,092. As a result there is
significant uncertainty whether they will continue as going concerns, and whether they will realise their assets
and extinguish their liabilities in the normal course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial
report. The financial report does not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification
of recorded asset amounts or to the amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should
the company and the consolidated entity not continue as going concerns.

6/’\5‘/ + %«4 g

Ernst & Young

R

P Mclver

Partner

Perth

30 September 2009
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The following additional information is provided in accordance with the listing rules and is current as at 25 September 2009.

(@)
(i)

(i)

(iii)

(b)

Distribution of equity securities

Ordinary share capital

116,619,750 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 330 individual shareholders. All issued ordinary shares carry one
vote per share and carry the rights to dividends.

Converting performance shares

17,099,500 Class “A” Converting Performance Shares and 17,099,500 new Class “B” Converting Performance
Shares are held by 60 and 60 individual shareholders respectively.

Subject to performance criteria associated with the operating results of the Group, each Class “A” or Class “B”
Converting Performance Share is entitled to convert to 1 ordinary shares of the Company. Both Class “A” and Class
“B” Converting Performance Shares do not entitle the holder to vote on any resolutions proposed at a general meeting
of shareholders, do not entitle the holder to any dividends, not transferable and can only participate in the surplus
profits or assets of the Company upon winding up of the Company only to the extent of $0.0001 per Class “A” or
Class “B” Converting Performance Share.

Options
7,500,000 options are held by 7 individual option holders. Options do not carry a right to vote.

The number of shareholders, by size of holding, in each class is:

Converting Converting
Fully Paid Performing Performing
Ordinary Shares — Class  Shares — Class Options
Shares B A
1-1,000 5 - - -
1,001 - 5,000 21 1 1 -
5,001 - 10,000 51 2 2 -
10,001 - 100,000 160 39 39 -
100,001 and over 93 18 18 7
330 60 60 7
Holding less than a marketable parcel 1
Substantial shareholders
Fully paid
Ordinary shareholders Number Percentage
Euro Mark Limited and related entities 21,495,818 18.43%
Mr Steven James Apedaile and his controlled entities 14,996,930 12.86%
Mr Richard John Siemens and his controlled entities 19,830,170 17.00%
Mr Michael John Wilson and Mrs Megan Joy Wilson 10,080,000 8.64%
66,402,918 56.94%
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Largest twenty shareholders

Ordinary shareholders

Euro Mark Limited
China Automotive Holdings Limited

Mr Steven James Apedaile + Mrs Michelle Lynda Apedaile <Apedaile Family

A/C>

Mr Michael John Wilson + Mrs Megan Joy Wilson

ANZ Nominees Limited <Cash Income A/C>

I-Biz Limited

Daily Power Pty Ltd

Four Paws Investments Pty Ltd

CMIH Enterprises Pty Ltd

Bond Street Custodians Limited <Macq Aust Microcap Fund A/C>
Ms Celia Mi Choi Kwong

Fortis Clearing Nominees Pty Ltd <Next Financial Account>
Steven James Apedaile + Michelle Lynda Apedaile <Apedaile Super Fund
A/C>

Fortis Clearing Nominees P/L <Next Custodian A/C>

Mrs Zahra Nahid Khosrowshahi

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited

Mr Euan Alexander Barty + Ms Patricia Ann Malone

Teloar Pty Ltd

Mr Bradley Martin Rinaldi <Bradley Rinaldi S/F A/C>

Jason Tranter No 1 Pty Ltd

Fully paid
Number Percentage

20,925,004 17.95
15,360,170 13.17
13,360,170 11.46
10,080,000 8.64
6,095,400 5.23
3,300,000 2.83
2,500,000 2.14
2,225,526 1.91
3,027,194 2.60
1,800,000 1.54
1,572,000 1.35
1,559,550 1.34
1,536,760 1.32
1,277,000 1.10
1,200,000 1.03
1,127,000 0.97
880,000 0.75
725,550 0.62
710,000 0.61
675,000 0.58
89,936,324 77.14
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